
Agenda

Scrutiny Committee

Date: Tuesday 5 March 2019

Time: 6.00 pm

Place: St Aldate's Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
John Mitchell, Committee Services Officer
Telephone: 01865 252217
Email: democraticservices@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the Contact Officer 
know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. 
Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, 
St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

Scrutiny Committee
Membership

Chair Councillor Andrew Gant

Vice Chair Councillor Dr Joe McManners

Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan
Councillor Lubna Arshad
Councillor Nadine Bely-Summers
Councillor Steven Curran
Councillor Dr Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini
Councillor Alex Donnelly
Councillor James Fry
Councillor Pat Kennedy
Councillor Mark Lygo
Councillor Craig Simmons

The quorum for this Committee is four, substitutes are permitted.



AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3  CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

4  MINUTES 7 - 12
To approve the minutes of the minutes of the meeting held on 5 February 
2019 as a true and accurate record.

5  WORK PLAN AND FORWARD PLAN 13 - 22
The Scrutiny Committee operates within a work plan which is agreed at the 
start of the Council year. The Committee is asked to review and note its work 
plan for the remainder of the 2018/19 council year. The City Executive 
Board’s Forward Plan of decision is included for reference. 

6  RECYCLING IN OXFORD 
At the request of the Committee, Oxford Direct Services have been invited to 
give a brief presentation outlining their work, and current recycling rates 
within the City.

7  UPDATE ON THE CORPORATE PLAN 23 - 38
At its meeting on 13 March, the City Executive Board will consider an 
updated Corporate Plan. This item provides an opportunity for the Committee 
to make any recommendations to the Board if it wishes. Please note that this 
paper will go through a graphics review before publication.

8  APPROACH TO CITY CENTRE PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION 
ORDERS (PSPO) 

39 - 54

To consider a report concerning a city centre consultation process to 
determine the standards of acceptable behaviour and the acceptability and 
appropriateness of a City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order for tackling 
particular behaviours. This report will be considered by the City Executive 
Board on 13 March for decision. 

9  FUSION LIFESTYLE 55 - 58
To consider the Q3 performance information for Fusion Lifestyle and the 
outcome of the Committee’s recommendation concerning an audit of Fusion 
Lifestyle’s performance data.

10  QUARTER 3 COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT 59 - 62
To consider the Quarter 3 performance monitoring report for Council 
services. 



11  REPORT FOR APPROVAL 63 - 66

The Committee is asked to approve their draft report and recommendations 
concerning Street Art and Graffiti, as transcribed from the meeting held on 5 
February 2019. The report will then be submitted to the City Executive Board 
on 13 March 2019.

12  REPORT BACK ON RECOMMENDATIONS 67 - 72
At its meeting on 12 February 2019, the City Executive Board considered the 
Committee’s recommendations in relation to the Rent Guarantee Scheme 
and the 2019/20 budget. The Board’s response to both sets of 
recommendations is attached. 

13  CHANGES TO STANDING PANEL MEMBERSHIP 
To receive a proposal to replace on a permanent basis one member of the 
Companies Panel for another, for the remainder of the Council Year. 

14  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 
The next meetings of the Scrutiny Committee and its panels are scheduled 
as follows:

Scrutiny Committee
 02 April 2019
 15 May 2019
 4 June 2019
 2 July 2019
 3 September 2019
 1 October 2019

Standing Panels
 Housing Standing Panel: 8 April, 27 June, 3 October 
 Finance Standing Panel: 4 April, 01 July, 5 September
 Companies Panel: 28 February, 17 April, 3 July

All meetings start at 6.00 pm 

 



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself 
but also those of the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife 
or as if they were civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes of a meeting of the 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
on Tuesday 5 February 2019 

Committee members:
Councillor Gant (Chair) Councillor Arshad
Councillor Bely-Summers Councillor Curran
Councillor Djafari-Marbini Councillor Donnelly
Councillor Fry Councillor Kennedy
Councillor Lygo Councillor McManners (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Simmons Councillor Harris

Officers: 
Alison Cassidy, Anti-Social Behaviour Investigation Team - Case Manager
Stefan Robinson, Scrutiny Officer
David Rundle, Private Rented Team Leader
Bruce Thompson, Building Operations Manager
Paul Wilding, Programme Manager Revenue & Benefits
John Mitchell, Committee and Member Services Officer

Also present:
Councillor Tom Hayes, Board Member for Safer, Greener, Environment. 
Councillor Linda Smith, Deputy Leader Board Member for Leisure and Housing, 

Apologies:
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Altaf-Khan and for whom 
Councillor Harris was attending as a substitute

84. Declarations of interest 
None.

85. Chair's Announcements 
The Chair explained that the Growth Board’s Scrutiny Panel had met recently to 
consider the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan Regulation 18 Consultation Document  as this 
Committee had done at its previous meeting. The Growth Board’s Scrutiny Panel, as 
representative of all the authorities involved, had been able to go further than this 
Committee and recommended the redrafting of some aspirations and goals within the 
document. 

7

Agenda Item 4



86. Minutes 
The Committee resolved to APPROVE the minutes of the meeting held on 21 January 
2018 as a true and accurate record subject to the addition of Councillor Kennedy to the 
list of those present.  

87. Work Plan and Forward Plan 
The Scrutiny Officer said the update to the Corporate Plan had been moved to the 
agenda for the March meeting  of the Committee as the report to the City Executive 
Board had similarly been delayed by one month. 

A progress report following the No Local Connection Review was scheduled for the 
June meeting, and the Committee agreed to schedule the second part of the JSSP 
Regulation 18 Consultation Document concerning locations for growth for its July 
meeting. 

The Scrutiny Officer had been informed that the Fusion Lifestyle Audit Report, 
scheduled for the March meeting, would be dealt with as a verbal update because  the 
information required for the audit of performance data would not be available in time.  
The Committee was disappointed to hear this, having been informed, previously, that 
the data would be available. The Scrutiny Officer was asked to convey the Committee’s 
view to the relevant officers and ask for every effort to be made to provide a written 
report for the meeting.

With reference to the recent Council motion recognising “Climate Emergency” the 
Committee agreed that an item on the subject should be noted, in advance, for 
consideration as part of the next council year’s Committee Work Plan.

88. Report back on recommendations 
The Chair was pleased to report the City Executive Board’s agreement to the 
Committee’s recommendations in relation to the Joint Statutory Spatial Plan Regulation 
18 document.  The Committee agreed that the Chair should ask to see the draft council 
response to the consultation.

89. Appointments to the Housing Panel 
The appointment to a vacancy on the Housing Panel fell to the Liberal Democrat 
Group. The Chair announced that the position would be filled by Councillor Liz Wade.

The election to the position of Chair of the Housing Panel fell to the Committee. 
Councillor Bely-Summers was nominated and in the absence of other nominees and, 
on being put to a vote, was unanimously appointed to the position.

90. Oxford Rent Guarantee Scheme 
Councillor Linda Smith, Board Member for Leisure and Housing said that while dealing 
with the consequences of homelessness and rough sleeping were a proper Council 
priority, the need to prevent homelessness in the first place was fundamental. 

8



The Systems Change Manager (Homelessness Prevention), Paul Wilding, said that the 
Oxford Rent Guarantee (ORG) was a means of supporting those at risk of 
homelessness. The effectiveness of the previous model which focussed simply on 
finding possible accommodation  was  compromised by the difficulties of affordability in 
the City. ORG worked in partnership with landlords for whom, while the rent may be 
less than the market rate, there was a guaranteed  rental income paid three months in 
advance. Coaching was provided to tenants as part of the ORG to help them gain 
future financial independence and better resilience to prevent future homelessness. 
This important element of the ORG was modelled on the support provided by the 
Welfare Reform Team. 

Over 73 families had benefitted from the pilot and lessons learnt from it had triggered 
some minor adjustments to existing Council systems. 

In discussion it was noted that ORG’s focus had been on families as that was where 
the Council’s first duty lay. It was agreed that thought should be given to expanding the 
scheme by making a connection with the Lord Mayor’s Deposit Scheme which supports 
single people. Accommodation provided through the ORG outside the City was usually 
within the County and took account of the need for good transport connections with the 
City. Placements   made out of county were often at the request of individuals who had 
family connections elsewhere.  One officer was dedicated to out of area work. 

Despite the work of officers to attract more landlords to participate in the scheme, the 
lack of properties remained the biggest stumbling block to helping more families. The 
costs of the scheme were counterbalanced by costs which would otherwise be incurred 
elsewhere, though the committee noted that no formal analysis of this position had 
been done. Participating landlords signed up to the scheme for 12 months at a time and 
none had failed to renew at the end of the initial term. 

The Committee expressed great concern at the  longer term future of the  Council’s 
homelessness reserves, and how this might affect delivery of the scheme in future. A 
paper on the opportunity costs of continuing to pursue the scheme or not would be 
welcome.

The introduction of Universal Credit touched on this matter as well as many others. It 
was agreed that the suggestion of a review group to look at the consequences of its 
introduction should be noted in advance  for consideration as part of the next council 
year’s Committee’s Work Plan. 

The Chair thanked the Board Member and the Systems Change Manager for their 
contribution to the discussion following which the Committee would make a 
recommendation to the City Executive Board that the scheme should be expanded to 
better align with the Lord Mayor’s Deposit Scheme and the needs of single people at 
risk of homelessness. The Committee would also register concern at the scheme’s 
apparent dependence on Council’s homelessness reserves.

9



91. Graffiti Prevention and Removal 
The Committee had before it two reports, one dealing principally with street art, and the 
other with the policy on graffiti removal as delivered by Oxford Direct Services.

Councillor Hayes, Board Member for Safer, Greener, Environment  introduced the item 
by emphasising the distinction between street art and graffiti. He said the former can be 
a valuable expression of the values and views of a community and have a very positive 
effect, the latter is an unacceptable blight. The amount of graffiti had increased 
considerably in recent years but so had the rate of its removal.

Councillor Chapman, Board Member for Customer Focused Services said Oxford 
Direct Services (ODS) was intensifying its work to remove graffiti, responding quickly to 
new incidents and working hard to address a backlog. Central to this new regime was a 
revision to the previous policy which had required owners of all premises affected by 
graffiti to pay for its removal. Owners of smaller/private/domestic properties were not 
now required to pay for removal, although permission to do so was still needed. This 
facilitated swifter removal and removed the need for sometimes protracted and 
unsuccessful attempts to persuade owners to pay.

A pragmatic approach was called for in determining whether a charge should be made 
in a particular case. Dealing with graffiti on buildings/ items owned by utilities could be 
problematic given those organisations’ policies often resisted intervention by third 
parties. The loss of income from the new approach was considered by the Board 
Member to be probably marginal. There was sufficient budgetary provision within ODS 
for the purpose at the moment on the basis of the present level of demand.

The City Centre and Street Scene Service Manager said that Street Scene teams dealt 
with ‘low level’ graffiti as part of their usual day to  day work. New working practices 
were soon to be introduced in which Street Scene colleagues would have responsibility 
for a particular part of the City and would, as a result, be better placed to spot new 
graffiti and deal with it quickly. Reports of graffiti from members of the public were dealt 
with as soon as possible and if, for example, racist or sexist, treated as urgent priorities. 
Owners of larger/commercial properties failing to cooperate would, if necessary, be 
faced with fixed penalty notices. 

The Regulatory Services and Community Safety Case Manager said that following a 
significant increase in the amount of graffiti in 2015, an appreciative inquiry, involving a 
significant number of stakeholders resulted in agreement that the Council would 
provide free wall space for local artists to use.  Officers said the spaces used in this 
way were well regarded by local communities  and, once established,  were not often 
damaged by subsequent graffiti. Engagement of and consultation with local 
communities was essential before proceeding with such a scheme as was   the case in 
relation to the wall surrounding the Convent of Incarnation in Meadow Lane mentioned 
in the report.

In discussion it was suggested that the Council might become aware of potential sites 
with free wall space via its role as planning authority and therefore becoming aware of 
building sites with hoarding. The protective shutters on commercial premises might also 
offer other free wall space. 

10



The lack of adequate youth provision in the City as a result of prior decisions by the 
County Council was regretted and thought likely to be a contributory factor to the 
increase in the amount of graffiti. 

The Committee noted that judgements about the visual quality of street art was 
subjective but the Council was fortunate to have access, through contacts established 
by officers,  to the skills of a number of local and talented artists. Deterioration of 
murals on permanent surfaces can be (and is) ameliorated by overpainting.

Councillors expressed mixed views on the benefits of street art, noting that it worked 
best where it was welcomed by a diversity of residents and set up in appropriate 
locations.

The Chair thanked the Board Members and officers for their contribution to a useful and 
full discussion. There had been an appreciation by the Committee both of the work 
done by Street Scene in tackling graffiti and of the value of well-placed street art. 

It was agreed that the Committee should recommend consideration of commercial 
protective shutters as another source of free wall space and request a further 
appreciative inquiry, focussing on the issues concerning Meadow Lane described in the 
report.

92. Report of the Budget Review Group 2019/20 
Councillor Fry spoke to the report before the Committee, drawing attention to a few 
matters in particular. While the Council was powerless to challenge the proportion of 
business rates it retained, the regrettable fact that it would retain a mere 8.5% of them  
should be noted as should the fact that this small share was under threat from the “Fair 
Funding Review.” Maintenance of support for twinning arrangements was important in 
the present environment as was the desirability of being clear about environmental 
consequences of Council plans. The use of the Council’s homelessness reserves, 
touched upon in the previous item, was a matter of great concern and the 
recommendation to the City Executive Board about it should be expanded to request a 
contingency plan to deal with the consequences of its significant use. It might, for 
example, be necessary to revisit the Council’s decision to maintain the Council Tax 
Reduction scheme.

Subject to some points of clarification and minor amendments, the Committee 
endorsed the report for submission to the City Executive Board on 12 February 2019.

11



93. Dates of future meetings 
The next meetings of the Scrutiny Committee and its panels are scheduled as follows:

Scrutiny Committee
 05 March  2019
 02 April 2019
 15 May 2019

Standing Panels
 Housing Standing Panel: 4 March, 8 April 
 Finance Standing Panel: 4 April, 01 July 
 Companies Panel: 28 February

All meetings start at 6.00 pm 

 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 8.00 pm

Chair ………………………….. Date:  Tuesday 5 March 2019

12



SCRUTINY WORK PLAN
December 2018 - July 2019

Published on: 25/02/19

The Scrutiny Committee agrees a work plan every year detailing selected issues that affect Oxford or its people.  Time is allowed 
within this plan to consider topical issues as they arise throughout the year as well as decisions to be taken by the City Executive 
Board.  This document represents the work of scrutiny for the 2018-19 council year and will be reviewed at each meeting of the 
Scrutiny Committee.  

The work plan is based on suggestions received from all elected members and senior officers.  Members of the public can also 
contribute topics for inclusion in the scrutiny work plan by completing and submitting our suggestion form.  See our get involved 
webpage for further details of how you can participate in the work of scrutiny.

The following criteria will be used by the Scrutiny Committee to evaluate and prioritise suggested topics:
- Is consideration of the issue timely?
- Is it a corporate priority?
- Is the issue of significant public interest?
- Can Scrutiny influence and add value?
- Is it an area of high expenditure, income or savings?

Some topics will be considered at Scrutiny Committee meetings and others will be delegated to standing panels.  Items for more 
detailed review will be considered by time-limited review groups.

The Committee will review the Council’s Forward Plan at each meeting and decide which executive decisions it wishes to comment 
on before the decision is made.  The Council also has a “call in” process which allows decisions made by the City Executive Board 
to be reviewed by the Scrutiny Committee before they are implemented.

13

A
genda Item

 5

https://ecitizen.oxford.gov.uk/citizenportal/form.aspx?form=Scrutiny_Committee_Suggestion
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings/1024/get_involved_at_scrutiny_committee_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings/1024/get_involved_at_scrutiny_committee_meetings
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=345&RD=0


Scrutiny Committee and Standing Panel responsibility and membership
Committee / Panel Remit Membership
Scrutiny Committee Overall management of the 

Council’s scrutiny function.
Councillors; Andrew Gant (Chair), Mohammed Altaf-Khan, Lubna 
Arshad, Nadine Bely-Summers, Steve Curran, Hosnieh Djafari-Marbini, 
Alex Donnelly, James Fry, Pat Kennedy, Joe McManners (Vice Chair), 
Craig Simmons, Mark Lygo.

Finance Panel Finance and budgetary issues 
and decisions

Councillors; James Fry (Chair), Mohammed Altaf-Khan, Tiago Corais, 
Chewe Munkonge, Craig Simmons, Roz Smith.

Housing Panel Strategic housing and landlord 
issues and decisions

Councillors; Lubna Arshad, Nadine Bely-Summers (Chair), Richard 
Howlett, Mike Gotch, Elizabeth Wade, Dick Wolff and Geno Humphrey 
(tenant co-optee).

Companies Panel To scrutinise shareholder 
decisions relating to wholly 
Council-owned companies.

Councillors; James Fry (Chair), Tiago Corais, Richard Howlett, Tom 
Landell-Mills, Chewe Munkonge, Craig Simmons. 

Current and planned review groups
Topic Remit Membership
No Local Connection 
Review Group

To review the Council’s Local Connection Policy in 
relation to homelessness, and how services could 
be improved for those without a local connection. 

Councillors; Nadine Bely-Summers (Chair), 
Shaista Aziz, Paul Harris, Richard Howlett, Tom 
Landell-Mills, Craig Simmons

Budget Review 2019/20 To review the 2019/20 budget proposals. Finance Panel Membership
Tourism Management To review how increasing tourism is being managed 

in the City, and new ways of improving the Oxford 
experience for both tourists and residents.    

Councillors; Andrew Gant (Chair), James Fry, Pat 
Kennedy, Alex Donnelly, Paul Harris and Dick 
Wolff.

Indicative timings of review groups
Feb March April May June July August September

No Local Connection Update 
report 

Budget review
Reporting

Tourism Management
Evidence Gathering Reporting

Decision on 
review 
groups for 
2019/20 

Preparation 
for review 
group 
meetings in 
September 
2019.

New Review 
Group starts 
its work, 
reporting in 
November / 
December.

14



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
5 MARCH 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Recycling in Oxford No At the request of the Committee, Oxford Direct 

Services has been invited to give a brief 
presentation outlining their work, and current 
recycling rates within the City. 

Customer 
Focussed 
Services

Maria Warner – Oxford 
Direct Services / 
Stefan Robinson, 
Oxford City Council

Fusion Lifestyle 
Performance

No To consider the Q3 performance information for 
Fusion Lifestyle and the outcome of the 
Committee’s recommendation concerning an 
audit of Fusion Lifestyle’s performance data.

Leisure and 
Housing  

Lucy Cherry, Leisure 
and Performance 
Manager 

Quarter 3 Council  
Performance Report

No To consider the Council’s performance for 
Quarter 3 of 2018/19.

Various Liz Godin, Corporate 
Governance Manager

Approach to the City 
Centre Public Spaces 
Protection Order 
(PSPO)

Yes To consider a report concerning a proposal to 
consult about behaviours in the city centre and 
the appropriateness of a City Centre Public 
Spaces Protection Order. 

Safer, Greener, 
Oxford

Richard Adams, 
Community Safety 
Service Manager

Corporate Plan 
Update

Yes To consider an update on progress against the 
Councils Corporate Plan. 

Leader of the 
Council 

Caroline Green, 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

2 APRIL 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Oxford Living Wage 
Review group – 12 
Month Update

No To receive an update on progress made against 
the recommendations of the Oxford Living Wage 
Review Group in March 2018.

Leader of the 
Council 

Matt Peachey, 
Economic 
Development Manager

15 MAY 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Oxford Town Hall 
Accessibility 

No To receive a report on the recent audit which 
evaluated the accessibility of the Town Hall.

Culture and City 
Centre 

David Hunt, Town Hall 
Manager 

15



Scrutiny Committee 
Operating Principles

No To review and agree the Committee’s Operating 
Principles for 2019/20

Deputy Leader, 
Leisure and 
Housing

Stefan Robinson, 
Scrutiny Officer 

East Oxford 
Community Centre - 
Improvement 
Scheme

Yes To present an improvement scheme for the East 
Oxford Community Centre following public 
consultation.

Supporting Local 
Communities

Vicky Trietline, 
Development Project 
Management Surveyor

Customer Services, 
Digital and ICT 
Strategy

Yes To consider the draft Customer Services, Digital 
and ICT Strategy.

Customer 
Focused 
Services

Rocco Labellarte, 
Chief Technology and 
Information Officer

4 JUNE 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
No local connection 
review update

No To consider an update on progress made against 
the recommendations of the No Local Connection 
Review Group. 

Leisure and 
Housing  

Nerys Parry, Housing 
Strategy & Needs 
Manager 

Scrutiny Annual Work 
Plan Review

No To consider a longlist of Work Plan suggestions 
for prioritisation. 

Leisure and 
Housing  

Stefan Robinson, 
Scrutiny Officer

Go Ultra Low Pilot No To consider the outcome of the Go Ultra Low 
Pilot and any next steps.

Safer, Greener 
Oxford

Jo Colwell, 
Environmental 
Sustainability Manager

Safeguarding report 
and action plan

Yes To consider the annual safeguarding report 
2018/19 and safeguarding action plan for 
2019/20

Supporting Local 
Communities

Rosie Woollcott, 
Safeguarding Co-
ordinator

2 JULY 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Scrutiny Review 
Group Scoping and 
Selection 

No To select one or more review groups to 
undertake a detailed piece of scrutiny work in 
2019/20. 

Leisure and 
Housing  

Stefan Robinson, 
Scrutiny Officer

Monitoring the 
Community Grants 
Programme - Report 
for 2018/19

Yes To inform the Committee of the monitoring 
findings of the 2018/19 grants programme

Supporting Local 
Communities

Julia Tomkins, Grants 
& External Funding 
Officer

16



FINANCE PANEL
4 APRIL 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact
Quarterly Integrated 
Report, Finance & 
Performance Q3

Yes Quarterly Integrated Report for Finance, 
Performance and Risk

Deputy Leader / 
Finance / Asset 
Management

Anna Winship, 
Management 
Accountancy Manager

1 JULY 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
5 SEPTEMBER 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
7 NOVEMBER 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS

HOUSING PANEL
4 MARCH 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Options for a Council 
Owned Letting 
Agency

No To consider options for the establishment of a 
council owned letting agency. 

Housing / Leisure 
and Housing

Stephen Clarke, Head 
of Housing

Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol 
(SWEP) review

No To consider how well SWEP has worked for 
rough sleepers, and any lessons learnt and areas 
for improvement. 

Leisure and 
Housing

Rachel Lawrence, 
Rough Sleeping and 
Single Homelessness 
Manager

Q3 Housing 
Performance

No To consider performance against a set of housing 
indicators for the period October - December.

Housing / Leisure 
and Housing

Stephen Clarke, Head 
of Housing Services

Allocation of 
Homelessness 
Prevention Funds 
2019/20

Yes To consider a report which seeks approval from 
the City Executive Board for the allocation of 
homelessness prevention funds in 2019/20.

Leisure and 
Housing

Rachel Lawrence, 
Rough Sleeping and 
Single Homelessness 
Manager

17



8 APRIL 2019 – PROVISIONAL REPORTS
Agenda item Decision Description CEB Portfolio Report Contact

Breaches in Building 
Regulations

No To consider a report on enforcement action taken 
against breaches in building regulations.

Planning and 
Transport 

Ian Wright, Head of 
Regulatory Services 
and Community Safety

27 JUNE 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
3 OCTOBER 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS
5 DECEMBER 2019 - PROVISIONAL REPORTS

COMPANIES PANEL

The Companies Panel will meet prior to meetings of the Shareholder Groups. Provisional dates for the Companies Panel are 
outlined below:

28 February 2019
17 April 2019
3 July 2019
23 July 2019
17 October 2019
14 November 2019 

18



FORWARD PLAN 
March 2019 - December 2019 

CEB: 13 MARCH 2019
ITEM 10:   
ID: I020468

CORPORATE PLAN UPDATE 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Annual update to the Corporate Plan detailing key achievements and future plans

ITEM 11:   
ID: I019078

QUARTERLY INTEGRATED REPORT, FINANCE & PERFORMANCE 
Q3 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Quarterly Integrated Report: Finance, Performance and risk

ITEM 12:   
ID: I020323

CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

The Council's Corporate Enforcement Policy covers a range of regulatory services delivered 
by the Council. It was adopted in 2015 and requires reviewing and updating as necessary..

ITEM 13:   
ID: I019467

OXPENS LANE REDEVELOPMENT UPDATE 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The report is an update position on the redevelopment of the Oxpens Lane key City Centre 
site; the required delivery structure to take the project forward and the procurement of a 
preferred development partner. The City Council has formed a joint venture company, 
OxWED, with Nuffield College to progress the delivery of this scheme

ITEM 14:   
ID: I020491

CORPORATE DEBT POLICY 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Policy revision

ITEM 15:   
ID: I020898

EXTENSION TO CENTRAL CONSERVATION AREA 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

The alteration of the Oxford Central Conservation Area to include additional areas identified 
as being of special architectural and historic interest following review and public consultation

19



ITEM 16:   
ID: I020882

REVIEW OF CIVIC FLAG FLYING ARRANGEMENTS 
Report Status: Provisional: Awaiting further information, advice or 
input.

For the City Executive Board to review the Council's arrangements for civic flag flying and 
agree any changes the schedule of flag flying commitments and the flag flying protocol, 
which guides the Head of Law and Governance in exercising delegated responsibility for flag 
flying. These arrangements were last reviewed in 2015.

ITEM 17:   
ID: I021106

RE-DESIGNATION OF NEIGHBOURHOOD FORUMS AND THEIR 
NEIGHBOURHOOD AREAS 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

To re-designate the Wolvercote Forum and the Summertown and St. Margaret's Forum 
together with their Neighbourhood Areas

ITEM 18:   
ID: I021125

PROJECT APPROVAL FOR THE ACQUISITION OF PROPERTIES 
INTO THE HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The report will seek Project Approval for the acquisition of properties into the Housing 
Revenue Account, including new units that may be purchased ‘off-plan’ from a developer. 
The purpose is to deliver more affordable housing, and to manage these properties in the 
Council, rented at social rent levels.

ITEM 19:   
ID: I021136

ALLOCATION OF HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION FUNDS 2019/20 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Report seeking approval for the proposed allocation of homelessness prevention funds in 
2019/20 with the purpose of helping meet the objectives of the Housing & Homelessness 
Strategy 2018/21.

ITEM 20:   
ID: I021248

APPROACH TO THE CITY CENTRE PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION 
ORDER (PSPO) 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Approve a city centre consultation process to determine the standards of acceptable 
behaviour in the city centre and the acceptability and appropriateness of a City Centre Public 
Spaces Protection Order for tackling particular behaviours. Also to seek endorsement of the 
use of the Anti-social Behaviour Enforcement Policy to address behaviours in the city centre 
addressed by the 2016-19 City Centre PSPO

CEB: 10 APRIL 2019
COUNCIL 29 APRIL 2019
COUNCIL  13 MAY 2019 (ANNUAL MEETING)

20



CEB: 22 MAY 2019
ITEM 21:   
ID: I015077

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 2019 
Report Status: CEB: Provisional: Decision needs further 
consideration or information
Council: Provisional: Decision needs further consideration or 
information

The report will provide the revised Oxford Sustainability Strategy, which will set out the 
vision for Oxford’s sustainable future and steps we are required to take to deliver it.  The 
report will recommend approval of the draft strategy for public consultation.

ITEM 22:   
ID: I015275

EAST OXFORD COMMUNITY CENTRE - IMPROVEMENT SCHEME 
Report Status: Provisional : Decision needs further consideration or 
information

To present an improvement scheme for the East Oxford Community Centre following public 
consultation.

ITEM 23:   
ID: I020922

SUMMERTOWN AND ST. MARGARET’S NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The report to CEB will follow the decision of the Referendum, which is likely to take place in 
early March 2019. Assuming that there is a majority in favour of the Plan, this report will 
seek the adoption of the Summertown and St. Margaret’s Neighbourhood Plan which will 
then go to Full Council for the decision to be ratified..

ITEM 24:   
ID: I021018

SEACOURT PARK AND RIDE EXTENSION 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision needs further consideration or 
information

Seacourt P&R Extension 
Approval of main works contract, and associated capital expenditure

ITEM 25:   
ID: I021261

THE DELIVERY ARRANGEMENTS FOR ADDITIONAL AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

The recent changes to the HRA headroom limit gives the Council the opportunity to acquire 
and manage newly developed affordable housing. This report sets out how the Council's 
land assets can be used to enable this development to proceed with its housing company, 
Oxford City Homes Limited, whilst supporting overall service delivery within the Council and 
providing new homes for those in need.

CEB: 12 JUNE 2019
ITEM 26:   
ID: I020879

WOLVERCOTE NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

Report to CEB to endorse the Examiner's modifications to the Wolvercote Neighbourhood 
Plan, following the Examination, and to move to a Referendum

ITEM 27:   
ID: I020875

SAFEGUARDING REPORT AND ACTION PLAN 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

Annual safeguarding report 2018/19 and safeguarding action plan for 2019/20

21



CEB: 10 JULY 2019
ITEM 28:   
ID: I021150

MONITORING THE COMMUNITY GRANTS PROGRAMME - REPORT 
FOR 2018/19 
Report Status: Provisional: Decision reliant on another action or 
process

To inform members of the monitoring findings of the 2018/19 grants programme

COUNCIL: 22 JULY
CEB: 07 AUGUST 2019
CEB: 11 SEPTEMBER 2019
COUNCIL: 07 OCTOBER
CEB: 09 OCTOBER 2019
CEB: 13 NOVEMBER 2019
COUNCIL: 25 NOVEMBER
CEB: 11 DECEMBER  2019
ITEM 29:   
ID: I020878

ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 2018/19 
Report Status: Confirmed for this meeting

The AMR report is a statutory requirement providing information as to the extent to which the 
policies set out in the Local Plan are being achieved and the implementation of the Local 
Development Scheme.

22



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 13th March 2019
Report of: Assistant Chief Executive
Title of Report: Annual Update Report on the Corporate Plan 

2016 -20

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To seek approval for the 2018-19 Annual Update  on the 

Corporate Plan 2016-20
Key decision: Yes 
Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Susan Brown, Leader of the Council

Corporate Priority: All Corporate Plan priorities 
Policy Framework: Policy Framework - Corporate Plan

Recommendations:That the City Executive Board resolves to:
1. Approve the Annual Update  on the Corporate Plan 2016-20, as set out in 

Annex 1.
2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Chief Executive to make minor 

textual/formatting changes to the Annual Update Report in advance of formal 
publication.

Appendices
Appendix 1 Annual Update on the Corporate Plan 2018-19

Appendix 2 Oxford City Council Corporate Plan 2016-20 can be found at :
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s28130/Appendix%201%20Dr
aft%20Corporate%20Plan%202016%20-%202020.pdf

Introduction and background 
1. The Corporate Plan is the Council’s overarching strategy for delivering high quality 

services to the people of Oxford. The Corporate Plan 2016-20 was agreed by 
Council in February 2016. It sets out a clear vision, corporate priorities and 

23

Agenda Item 7

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s28130/Appendix%201%20Draft%20Corporate%20Plan%202016%20-%202020.pdf
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s28130/Appendix%201%20Draft%20Corporate%20Plan%202016%20-%202020.pdf


objectives, and how the Council aims to achieve them. The Annual Update  2018-19 
sets out what we have achieved against these themes in 2018 and outlines our 
major objectives and priorities for 2019-20.  

2. The Plan also provides a guide for the Council’s extensive and important work with 
partners and aims to communicate the Council’s vision and priorities to the wider 
community as a whole. 

3. The  Annual Update  attached in Annex 1 has been developed from input from 
Service Heads and Directors and members of the City Executive Board.

4. The content of the  Annual Update  complements the draft Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, which will also be presented at the 12th February 2019 meeting of the City 
Executive Board. The two are developed in tandem to ensure that the Council’s 
resources are aligned with its objectives.

The Annual Update  on the Corporate Plan 2016-20
5. The Council’s core ambition is to build a world class city for all of its citizens; to 

achieve this objective the Council has to continue to transform the way in which 
services are structured and delivered. The Council aims to create a successful 
economy and an integrated community which respects and celebrates diversity, 
protects and enhances the environment, and offers extensive accessible 
opportunities for residents’ leisure time.

6. The Council’s priorities for the next two years remain those that were identified in 
the Corporate Plan 2016-20:

 A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy
 Meeting Housing Needs
 Strong and Active Communities
 A Clean and Green Oxford 
 An Efficient and Effective Council. 

7. The Plan recognises that many of the issues that are important to the wellbeing of 
our city and its people are not exclusively or directly controlled by the City Council. 
Achieving our objectives involves close partnership working with other local 
authorities, public agencies, community groups, local businesses and third sector 
organisations. This has become ever more important as public resources have 
reduced due to the government’s austerity agenda, and new ways of delivering 
services are developed. The Council works with its partners to align our resource 
allocation and our plans. The Corporate Plan 2016-20 therefore includes the two 
cross-cutting priorities of Partnership and Devolution which have underpinned the 
Council’s approach to most areas of its work.

Key challenges
8. The key challenges facing the city and the Council include: 

24



 The impact of Brexit on Oxford’s economy and residents, particularly in the 
circumstances of a no-Deal exit from the European Union, or if uncertainty is 
prolonged.

 Working jointly with our neighbouring district councils, Oxfordshire County 
Council, Oxfordshire Local Enterprise Partnership (OxLEP) and other partners 
to deliver the four workstreams of the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal: 
housing, infrastructure, productivity and the Oxfordshire 2050 Plan. 

 Taking forwards delivery of a number of major development projects and 
proposed schemes including Barton Park Phase 2, Blackbird Leys, Oxpens, the 
Station area redevelopment, and South Oxford Science Village.

 Achieving a step change in housing delivery following the lifting of the 
Government’s Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap, Tackling high levels of 
family and single person homelessness, and overcrowded housing.

 Implementation of the proposed Zero Emissions Zone in central Oxford, working 
jointly with Oxfordshire County Council, and evaluation of options for traffic 
demand management measures more widely across the city.

 Increasing internal financial pressures from the reduction in the level of grant 
that we receive from the Government to zero in 2019/20.

 Managing the transition around reducing levels of income from off-street 
parking, as we continue to encourage greater use of public transport, cycling 
and walking in the city.

Key achievements in 2018-19
9. Some key achievements in 2018 were:

 Oxford City Council has continued to deliver efficiency savings during 2018/19 
to a value of £0.5 million in addition to £2.9 million achieved in the previous 3 
years.

 Successful partnership work to secure the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal which is delivering £215 million investment in affordable housing and 
infrastructure projects.

 Enabled the delivery of more than 90 affordable homes, with 30 social rented 
units built in Barton Park through the Council’s housing company OCHL.  

 Extensive public engagement and consultation to develop the draft Oxford Local 
Plan 2036 which will shape sustainable development of the City.

 Invested an additional £5 million to buy affordable homes through the National 
Homeless Property Fund. Secured £3.9 million through the planning system to 
build further affordable housing.

 Opened a new £4.9m Sports Park on Horspath Road which features floodlit 3G 
football pitches, grass football pitches, cricket and softball pitches, practice 
areas, a pavilion and changing rooms.  

 Launched the Public Spaces Drugs Taskforce in partnership with Thames 
Valley Police, Oxfordshire County Council and Turning Point, to address drug 
dealing and misuse in the city.

25



 Supported over 40 refugees and migrants to improve their English language 
skills, and facilitated the volunteering of more than 700 hours to their local 
community, improving cohesion and integration.  

 Established a city centre partnership, bringing together private and public 
partners to identify key priorities and improvements to benefit the city centre.

 Secured £1.7 million for the first fully electric buses in Oxford, £200,000 to 
purchase electric delivery vehicles and install charging points for Covered 
Market traders, and almost £0.5 million to trial the world’s first ‘pop up’ EV 
charging points.  All which will support a future Zero Emission Zone.

 Improved the energy performance of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) in 
the private rented sector, with over 272 properties checked, and 90 
improvements made to meet the minimum energy standards. Energy advice 
provided to 2,600 tenants.

 Council Fraud Investigation Team became the first nationally to win the 
Excellence in Counter Fraud award for 2018 three years running from the 
Institute of Revenues Rating and Valuation.

Priorities for 2019-20
10.Priorities for the Council in 2019-20 will include:

 Continue the successful delivery of Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal 
investment to provide affordable homes and transport improvements for Oxford’s 
residents.

 Publish the Oxford Local Plan 2036. The Planning Inspectorate will examine the 
plan later in 2019 with a view to adoption in early 2020.

 Publish a refreshed Oxford Economic Growth Strategy that will set out a range of 
economic initiatives and interventions to safeguard the continued economic 
success of the city as well as ensuring this is delivered in an inclusive and 
sustainable manner.

 Take forward Living Wage initiatives with the aim of Oxford becoming the first 
fully accredited Living Wage city in England.

 Delivery of the updated Oxford Direct Services business plan, which will 
increase capital investment and boost the rate of growth and income generated 
for the Council

 Increase in homelessness budget by £200,000 to £1.7 million a year for services 
for homeless people, and make leisure services available for free to homeless 
pathway clients.

 Work through OCHL and with Registered Providers to increase the delivery of 
affordable housing in Oxford, including social rented homes, through Growth 
Deal funding, with work starting on over 600 units by Mar 2021

 Implement Premium Council Tax of 100 per cent additional tax for properties that 
have been empty for more than two years with effect from 01 April 2019 to 
encourage more empty properties back into use. 

 Review of the provision and maintenance of Council-managed community 
centres and continue the modernisation of other community centres, focusing on 
increasing usage and satisfaction levels.  

26



 Detailed work in partnership with the County Council on implementation plans for 
the Zero Emissions Zone 2020 and further public consultation on the final 
proposals. 

 Continue to invest in critical digital and technology to further improve the security 
of the City Council’s systems, ensure the health and safety of staff, residents 
and service users; and to enable staff to better work remotely, increase their 
efficiency in responding to service users’ needs, facilitate collaboration, and 
increase digital skills.

 Deliver the GoodGym project that organises jogging and running events and 
promotes volunteering to help support older people.

 Work with partners on the development of County Wide Strategies including the 
Oxfordshire Health & Wellbeing Strategy and Older People’s Strategy to meet 
the needs of residents in the city.

 Invest £250,000 for new cycle infrastructure, to be part of matched funding with 
other Public bodies.

 Continue to work with the Environment Agency to deliver the Oxford Flood 
Alleviation Scheme. 

Corporate Performance Targets
11.The Corporate Plan 2016-20 also sets out a limited set of corporate performance 

measures for each of the Council’s priority areas. An update on progress on the 
targets is included within the Annual Update Report. Where the success measure 
targets have not been met an explanation has been provided.

Publication of Annual  Update of the Corporate Plan 2016-20
12.Once approved for adoption, the Annual Report Update on the Corporate Plan 

2016- 20 will be made available in hard copy, accessible format and placed on the 
Council web site.

Corporate Plan beyond 2020 
13.Over the course of 2019-20 a new Corporate Plan will be developed for the period 

beyond 2020. Working with the Leader, officers will develop a draft that go to CEB 
for approval prior to full public consultation. Following this a final version will go 
further consideration by Scrutiny and CEB before being presented to Council for 
approval. 

Legal Issues
14.There are no direct legal implications relating to the Draft Annual Update Report on 

the Corporate Plan 2016-2020.

Financial Issues
15.The Draft Annual update on the Corporate Plan is underpinned by the Council’s 

draft Medium Term Financial Plan which outlines how the objectives within the 
Corporate Plan will be funded. The Council’s draft Budget for 2019-2023 is 
presented elsewhere on this CEB agenda.

Environmental Impact

27



16.The commitment to improving Oxford’s environment and reducing the environmental 
impact of the city is directly reflected in the Clean and Green Oxford corporate 
priority and underpins all of the Council’s activities.

Level of Risk 
17.The Corporate Plan 2016-20 is an overarching strategic document, which is 

underpinned by a series of supporting documents. Details of projects and actions 
which contribute to the delivery of corporate priorities will be found in the Council’s 
service plans and other delivery plans. Risks are detailed in service and corporate 
risk registers. 

Equalities Impact
18.An equalities impact assessment was undertaken on the Corporate Plan 2016-20. 

The City Council’s overriding concern in formulating its budget and Corporate Plan 
has been to expand the options and opportunities available to the people of our city. 
We particularly aim to reduce inequalities and expand opportunities for those 
suffering from deprivation.

Report author Caroline Green

Job title Assistant Chief Executive
Service area or department Assistant Chief Executive
Telephone 01865  529887  
e-mail e-mail: cgreen@oxford.gov.uk  

Background Papers: 
None

28



1. A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy
A smart and entrepreneurial city with a thriving local economy supported by improved infrastructure, training and skills

Oxford City Council Corporate 
Plan Priorities 2016-2020

Make the case for greater local 
control and devolution of decisions 
and investment in transport, housing, 
skills and business growth to meet 
the needs of our economy.

Promote growth and increased 
investment in enterprise and the 
knowledge economy. 

Improve infrastructure, public 
transport and opportunities for 
walking and cycling across the city to 
reduce congestion, and support 
economic and housing growth.

Deliver effective support to attract 
new businesses and allow local 
businesses to prosper and grow.

Improve workforce skills to meet 
local demand by working with 
Oxfordshire Skills Board to support 
educational attainment, traineeships, 
apprenticeships and better targeting 
of funding for skills across the 
spectrum.

Promote and shape development 
and unlock land for housing and 
employment sites to help meet the 
needs of the city.

Key Achievements for 2018

Successful partnership work to 
secure the Oxfordshire Housing and 
Growth Deal which will deliver £215 
million investment in affordable 
housing and infrastructure projects.

Delivery of first Growth Deal projects 
in Oxford including cycle path 
improvements, and public 
consultation on the Oxfordshire 2050 
Plan.

Built on our partnership with Network 
Rail and others to look at options for 
redevelopment of Oxford Station and 
the area around it.  

Worked with Independent Oxford to 
create a new incubation space for 
independent and local start-ups in 
Oxford City Council owned 
properties. 

Extensive public engagement and 
consultation to develop the draft 
Oxford Local Plan 2036 which will 
shape sustainable development of 
the City.

Established a city centre partnership, 
bringing together private and public 
partners to identify key priorities and 
improvements to benefit the city 
centre. 

Successful implementation of a 
community employment plan for 
Westgate and Barton projects 
benefitting 140 people.

Working with the Living Wage 
Foundation, launched a living wage 
initiative for the city and committed to 
raising the Oxford Living Wage from 
£9.69 to £10.02 per hour in April 
2019.

Consulted on the City Centre 
Conservation Area, which will inform 
future alterations, development and 
demolition and ensure that its 
character and appearance are not 
harmed.

Achieved near £12 million in rental 
income and raised £15 million from 
sales of property, including the 

disposal of Temple Cowley Pool and 
land at Oxpens. 

Acting as custodian of the Covered 
Market on behalf of the residents of 
Oxford, committed to invest £3.1 
million over 6 years to secure its 
future and completed the lease 
renewal programme for another 15 
years.

Successfully delivered Phase 1 of 
the £380,000 European Social Fund 
(ESF) grants programme that funded 
community-based organisations 
supporting the most vulnerable 
residents to access the job market.

Areas of Focus 2019 – 2020

Continue the successful delivery of 
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth 
Deal investment to provide 
affordable homes and transport 
improvements for Oxford’s residents.

Continue initiatives with the aim of 
encouraging further take up of the 
Oxford Living Wage and Oxford 
becoming the first fully accredited 
Living Wage City in England.

Publish a refreshed Oxford 
Economic Growth Strategy that will 
set out a range of economic 
initiatives and interventions to 
safeguard the continued economic 
success of the city as well as 
ensuring this is delivered in an 
inclusive and sustainable manner.

Success Measures 2018/2019Targets 2018/2019 Projected 
Outcome

Amount of employment space permitted for 
development

15,000 15,000 – On track Apr-
Sept 2018 delivered 
8412 so far)

Number of jobs created or safeguarded in the 
city as a result of the City Council’s investment 
and leadership

1,100 750 to end Dec  – 
expected outturn below 
target due to economic 
uncertainty

Net annual increase in number of businesses 
operating in the city

200 40 to end-Dec  - 
expected outturn below 
target due to economic 
uncertainty

29



1. A Vibrant and Sustainable Economy
A smart and entrepreneurial city with a thriving local economy supported by improved infrastructure, training and skills

Publish the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
The Planning Inspectorate will 
examine the plan later in 2019 with a 
view to adoption in early 2020.

Progress Oxford Station 
redevelopment plans, working 
closely with Network Rail and 
partners. This will involve station 
works, bridge works, additional 
tracks, as well as the wider 
commercial development and 
transport interchange proposals.  

Develop Blackbird Leys masterplan 
in consultation with local people for 
new shops and affordable homes.
 
Develop a new Asset Management 
Plan for 2020-2025 so our 
investment portfolio continues to 
make a significant contribution to the 
Council’s revenue. 

Develop a Vision for Oxford’s City 
Centre to guide the Council’s policies 
and support our ambition that it is a 
world class, attractive and vibrant 
centre for culture, retail, commerce, 
learning and leisure.

Take forward our capital investment 
programme to develop, for example, 
Seacourt Park & Ride and East 
Oxford Community Centre.

Work with traders in the Covered 
Market to increase footfall and 
awareness so it continues to be a 
sustainable and vibrant place to 
work.

Successfully deliver phase 2 of our 
ESF project to provide a further 
£195,000 to community based 
organisations supporting the most 
vulnerable residents in the 
community to access the job market.

The Council’s digital technology 
partnership Smart Oxford will provide 
co-working space with support and 
mentors for 10-20 digital technology 
start-ups to deliver apps and 
solutions to support health and 
wellbeing.

30



2. Meeting Housing Needs
Improving Oxford residents’ access to affordable and high-quality homes in good environments that are close to jobs and facilities

Oxford City Council Corporate 
Plan Priorities 2016-2020

Tackle the city’s housing crisis by 
promoting high quality development 
in the city and in locations near to 
Oxford with good transport links 
working in partnership with 
developers, universities, businesses 
and neighbouring District Councils to 
build the homes that Oxford needs.

Build more affordable homes in 
partnership with developers, housing 
associations, universities and the 
health sector to meet the needs of 
different income groups and types of 
employment in the city, including 
those on low incomes and those who 
are vulnerable.

Improve conditions for private 
tenants by actively enforcing 
standards for private rented housing 
and managing the impact on 
neighbourhoods of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs).

Improve homes for our existing 
tenants by refurbishing our 
properties above national standards, 
making homes more energy efficient 
and improving the general 
environment of our estates.

Tackle homelessness and rough 
sleeping by securing appropriate 
accommodation and support for 
those affected.

Key Achievements for 2018

Enabled the delivery of more than 90 
affordable homes, with 30 social
rented units built in Barton Park 
through the Council’s housing 
company OCHL.  

Invested an additional £5 million to 
buy affordable homes through the 
National Homeless Property Fund. 
Secured £3.9 million through the 
planning system to build further 
affordable housing.

Undertook recladding and 
refurbishment of the city’s Tower 
Blocks. 

Developed a new Tenancy Strategy 
with a commitment to deliver 
genuinely affordable housing and 
rented accommodation let with 
Secure (Lifetime) Tenancies.     

Secured over £1 million from the 
Central Government Rough Sleeping 
Initiative Fund to expand the number 
of beds available, provide a hub and 
additional support services in the city 
for rough sleepers in time for winter 
2018/19.

Developed a citywide partnership to 
deliver a coordinated and effective 
response to rough sleeping.

Through the Trailblazer initiative, 
implemented homelessness 
prevention services and developed 
Community Navigators and a 
Champions’ Network that provides 
housing training and peer support to 
other local services. 

Expanded the Rent Guarantee 
Scheme that helps people access 
private rented accommodation and 
reduces the demand for social rented 
housing. 

Continued to improve housing 
standards for residents in private 
rented homes.  Carried out over 800 
investigations into unauthorised 
dwellings, served 390 notices on 
landlords to improve substandard 
accommodation, with 26 financial 
penalties totalling £244,000 issued to 
landlords, and two prosecutions,

Introduced an innovative Housing 
Assistance and Disabled Adaptation 
Policy to increase help for elderly 
and disabled people that is now used 
nationally as a best practice 
example. 

Areas of Focus 2019 – 2020

Work through OCHL and with 
Registered Providers to increase the 
delivery of affordable housing in 
Oxford, including social rented 
homes, through Growth Deal 
funding, with work starting on over 
600 units by Mar 2021. 

Continue joint venture working with 
Grosvenor Developments Ltd to 
bring forward up to 885 new homes 
at Barton Park together with a new 
primary school and sports facilities.  

Complete the development of a 37 
bedroom supported housing scheme 
in Cowley.    

Continue our Trailblazer programme 
by securing additional appropriate 
accommodation and early 
intervention support for households 
who are homeless or at risk of 
homelessness.  

Increase homelessness budget by 
£200,000 to £1.7 million a year for 
services for homeless people, and 
make leisure services available for 
free to homeless pathway clients.

Provide further support to achieve 
our aim that no one needs to sleep 
rough on our streets, including more 
winter provision and continuing our 
active role in the citywide partnership 
to tackle rough sleeping.

Success Measures 2018/2019 Targets 2018/2019 Projected 
outcomes

Number of new homes granted permission 400 Achieved
The percentage of HMOs licensed in the city 70% Exceeded
Limit our use of temporary accommodation at 
2015 levels

120 Achieved

31



2. Meeting Housing Needs
Improving Oxford residents’ access to affordable and high-quality homes in good environments that are close to jobs and facilities

Continue enforcement against rogue 
landlords, utilising new legal powers 
to improve the management of the 
private rented sector and to protect 
and improve tenants’ lives. 

Renew the Private Sector Housing 
Policy to reflect the impact of the 
Additional Licensing Scheme for 
HMOs, and consider whether further 
property licensing would provide the 
step change in standards that is 
needed to improve tenant’s lives.

Implement Premium Council Tax of 
100 per cent additional tax for 
properties that have been empty for 
more than two years with effect from 
01 April 2019 to encourage more 
empty properties back into use. 32



3. Strong and Active Communities
Socially cohesive and safe communities

Oxford City Council Corporate 
Plan Priorities 2016-2020

Tackle inequality through improved 
prosperity and by targeting resources 
to those who need most support. 

Provide high quality community 
and leisure facilities and seek to 
increase participation in regular 
physical activity to improve people’s 
health and quality of life.

Improve opportunities for young 
people to engage in positive 
activities and develop the skills and 
ambition to achieve to the best of 
their abilities.

Celebrate diversity and support our 
different communities by 
understanding their needs, 
supporting voluntary and community 
groups and delivering high quality 
cultural events and activities.

Promote safe neighbourhoods and 
tackle anti-social behaviour through 
education and early engagement 
with problems, backed by 
enforcement action if required.

Safeguard and support vulnerable 
people including improving quality of 
life for older people and protecting 
children, families and adults at risk of 
exploitation or crime.

Key Achievements for 2018

Launched our Children & Young 
People’s Strategy in November 2018 
and worked with partners to set up a 
pilot Community Impact Zone in East 
Oxford to target support for troubled 
families and children in an area of 
deprivation.  

Completed the £1 million 
redevelopment of Barton 
Neighbourhood Centre into a health 
and community hub that hosts a 
range of support services for the 
health needs of residents.

Developed plans with the local 
community for the redevelopment of 
Bullingdon Community Centre.  
 
Increased use of Council-managed 
community centres by 11%.  
Broadened provision in community 
centres, for example with partners 
launched the Early Pregnancy 
Assessment Unit at Rose Hill 
Community Centre.
                        
Creation of our ‘Springboard’ service, 
which supports new Universal Credit 
applicants with claims and 
budgeting. 

Supported 30 Syrian refugee families 
through the Government-funded 
Resettlement programmes.   

Supported over 40 refugees and 
migrants to improve their English 
language skills, and facilitated the 
volunteering of more than 700 hours 
to their local community, improving 
cohesion and integration.  

Launched ‘MyConcern’ as a new 
way to record and monitor 
safeguarding concerns, identify gaps 
in knowledge and strengthen our 
good practice. 

Our Sports and Physical Activity 
Team achieved excellent in the 
QUEST UK Quality scheme for 
Active Communities. Also received 
national award of ‘Highest Achieving 
Active Communities Team’ in Quest 
(the UK quality standard for sport 
and leisure). 

Our Youth Ambition Team achieved 
accreditation from the National Youth 
Agency. 

Won two awards for the Adaptations 
service and the Handyperson 
Service and nominated for the 
Chartered Institute of Environmental 
Health Heroes award. 

Increased the number of people who 
attended our cultural events, with 
May Morning, St Giles Fair, 
Christmas Lights and Dancin’ Oxford 
reaching over 200,000. Raised over 
£220,000 to support culture and 
events in the city. 

A further [£1.67 million] was raised 
from the public towards the ongoing 
Museum of Oxford redevelopment.

Launched the Public Spaces Drugs 
Taskforce in partnership with 
Thames Valley Police, Oxfordshire 
County Council and Turning Point, to 
address drug dealing and misuse in 
the city.

2,500 antisocial behaviour and 
environmental cases investigated by 
the Community Response Team and 
Antisocial Behaviour Investigation 
Team. Cases ranged from 
environmental crimes, noise 
problems and neighbour disputes. 

Areas of Focus 2019 – 2020

Open a new £4.9m Sports Park on 
Horspath Road to feature floodlit 3G 
football pitches, grass football 
pitches, cricket and softball pitches, 
practice areas, a pavilion and 
changing rooms.  

Help shape and support the launch 
and delivery of GoodGym Oxford 
which organises jogging activities 
and links them with volunteering 
opportunities to help support 

Success Measures 2018/2019 
Targets

2018/2019 Projected 
Outcomes

Resident satisfaction with their area as a place to 
live

81% On track

The number of people taking part in our Youth 
Ambition programme

5,700 On track

Increase leisure centre participation  in target 
groups

3% increase On track 

33



3. Strong and Active Communities
Socially cohesive and safe communities

communities and older people in 
particular.

Review of the provision and 
maintenance of Council-managed 
community centres and continue the 
modernisation of other community 
centres, focusing on increasing 
usage and satisfaction levels.  

Continue to deliver the Community 
Impact Zone initiative in East Oxford 
to make a difference to children and 
young people under 21. 

Deliver a safe and clean public realm 
through engagement and 
enforcement activities and deal with 
the challenges of drug markets in the 
city through the Drugs Taskforce.

Continue to build on ‘Investor in 
Volunteers’ accreditation and 
maximise the quality and relevance 
of our support to the community and 
voluntary sector.  

Start engagement on a Vibrant, 
Active Oxford Strategy to further 
enhance our active population, 
engaging with communities to 
develop a five year action plan.  

Raise funds to continue our 
community cohesion and integration 
work until 2020. 

Conclude and evaluate our £734k 
Building Better Opportunities project 
that aims to engage entrenched 
NEETs (Not in Education, 
Employment or Training). 

Work with partners on the 
development of County Wide 
Strategies including the Oxfordshire 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and 
Older People’s Strategy to meet the 
needs of residents in the city. 

34



4. A Clean Green Oxford
An attractive and clean city that minimises its environmental impact by cutting carbon, waste and pollution

Oxford City Council Corporate 
Plan Priorities 2016-2020

Save energy and reduce carbon 
emissions through energy saving 
and renewable energy schemes that 
bring down energy bills, tackle fuel 
poverty and reduce the city’s carbon 
footprint.

Tackle congestion and pollution 
that frustrates growth and damages 
peoples’ health through a better 
public transport offer, our low 
emission zone and by promoting 
cycling and walking.

Improve cleanliness of our streets, 
neighbourhoods and open spaces so 
that Oxford is an attractive, clean 
and safe place which residents, 
visitors and those who work in the 
city enjoy.

Reduce the total amount of waste 
and increase the proportion of the 
waste stream that is recycled 
providing excellent recycling services 
and facilities across the city and 
working with partners to promote 
recycling. 

Protect the city from extreme 
weather events and flooding by 
working with partners to invest in 
effective flood defences

Key Achievements in 2018

Secured £1.7 million for the first fully 
electric buses in Oxford, £200,000 to 
purchase electric delivery vehicles 
and install charging points for 
Covered Market traders, and almost 
£500,000 to trial the world’s first ‘pop 
up’ electric vehicle (EV) charging 
points.  All which will support a future 
Zero Emission Zone. 

Provisionally secured over £10 
million of funding support for the 
Environment Agency’s planned 
Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme 
including in-kind contribution of land 
towards the overall scheme. 

Reduced City Council carbon 
emissions by 5%. We are now 
generating the equivalent of 10% of 

our annual electricity requirement 
from renewables saving more than 
£100,000 a year.

Improved the energy performance of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMO) in the private rented sector, 
with over 272 properties checked, 
and 90 improvements made to meet 
the minimum energy standards. 
Energy advice provided to 2,600 
tenants.

Continued to improve homes for 
Council tenants above national 
standards, with improved loft 
insulation, installation of new efficient 
storage heaters in 64 homes, and 
gas central heating to flats in 
Southfield Park. 

Installed home improvements funded 
by the Winter Warmth Grant and Gas 
Safe that helped 61 homes occupied 
by elderly people to keep warm. 

Planning permission received for a 
Recycling Transfer Station at 
Redbridge and now moving into the 
design stage for the facility.

In partnership with Friends of the 
Earth and Oxford schools our 
Schools Tackling Oxford’s Air 
Pollution (STOP) project won a 
National Air Quality Award as the 
best communications initiative.

In response to an increase in graffiti 
for example on Meadow Lane and 
the Thames footpath, staff numbers 
were increased and extensive graffiti 
in these and other areas removed. 
Also set up an anti-graffiti project 
resulting in community street art 
activities. 

Priorities for 2019 – 2020

Detailed work in partnership with the 
County Council on implementation 
plans for the Zero Emissions Zone 
2020 and further public consultation 
on the final proposals. 

Continue to promote the uptake of 
low emission vehicles through the 
delivery of EV on-street charging and 
EV taxi charging infrastructure, and 
through the second Oxford EV 
summit.

Continue to improve homes for 
tenants through a programme of 
energy efficiency and refurbishment 
work, provision of energy advice and 
information to residents, and 
regeneration of our estates. 

Develop a multi-agency approach to 
enforcing new legalisation prohibiting 
landlords from renting out poor 
energy-rated properties.

Success Measures 2018/2019 
Targets

2018/2019
Projected Outcome

Amount of non-recyclable waste 
produced in the city per households 
decreases each year

419kg Above target at 350kg

Satisfaction with our street cleaning 
services

77% No new target data available for this 
financial year

Implementation of measures to 
reduce City Council’s carbon 
footprint by 5% each year

5% Achieved

35



4. A Clean Green Oxford
An attractive and clean city that minimises its environmental impact by cutting carbon, waste and pollution

Take forward energy efficiency work 
to ensure all commercial leased 
properties achieve compliance to the 
minimum energy efficiency standard 
concentrating on heating and 
insulation.

Continue to lobby government for 
necessary powers and resources to 
make local action on climate change 
easier and involve Oxford’s citizens 
in drawing up further Council 
responses to the climate emergency.  

Work with partners to develop longer 
term carbon targets for the city, and 
consult on an Oxford City Council 
Sustainability Strategy which will 
help set a course to a cleaner, ultra-
low carbon future for the city.

Continue to work with the 
Environment Agency to deliver the 
Oxford Flood Alleviation Scheme. 

Develop innovative renewable 
energy projects for example local 
energy production, battery energy 
projects and support distributed 
energy across Oxford.

Develop a programme to encourage 
a reduction in the use of single-use 
plastics within the Council among our 
suppliers. 

Invest £250,000 for new cycle 
infrastructure, to be part of matched 
funding with other Public bodies.

Invest £24,000 for the installation 
and operation of drinking fountains in 
three parks.

36



5. An Efficient and Effective Council
A customer-focused organisation, delivering efficient, high quality services that meet people’s needs 

Oxford City Council Corporate 
Plan Priorities 2016-2020

Continue to deliver high quality 
services to residents and 
businesses in the city ensuring the 
flexibility to deal with uncertainty 
about future funding.

Continue to invest in technology 
to provide customers with more 
flexible and lower cost ways of 
accessing services. 

Manage our property and assets 
effectively to generate savings and 
maximise returns.

Manage our contracts and 
procurement processes effectively 
to deliver maximum value for money 
and continue to develop our anti-
fraud capability to protect public 
money. 

Recruit, develop and value a 
diverse workforce which reflects the 
make-up of the community that we 
serve, tackling barriers to 
employment and career progression.

Key Achievements in 2018

Oxford City Council has continued to 
deliver efficiency savings during 
2018/19 to a value of £0.5 million in 
addition to £2.9 million achieved in 
the previous 3 years.

Successful launch of Oxford Direct 
Services Ltd, wholly-owned by 
Oxford City Council, which provides 
services to more than 150,000 
residents on our behalf, and with 
income generated from working for 
other clients reinvested in services 
for Oxford’s residents.

Improved the Council’s website, 
achieving the 2nd highest 
satisfaction level for a local authority 
website nationally as measured by 
GovMetric Satisfaction Index.

Introduced on-line tools to analyse 
the number and type of interactions 
with our customers and improve our 
on-line form design. 

Increased self-service transactions 
through web chat, automated 
payment and telephone services. 
Launched on-line landlord portal. 

Commissioned a new housing 
software system that, when 
implemented in 2019, will streamline 
working practices and provide an 
opportunity for customers to make 
online housing applications. 

Launched a smartphone service so 
customers can submit recordings in 
support of noise complaints. 

Relaunched Oxford City Council’s 
community newsletter Your Oxford, 
changing the format to provide more 
detailed information, increasing 
frequency and saving public money. 

Achieved Customer Service 
Excellence re-accreditation. 

Established a new approach to 
managing major development and 
ICT projects, with 16 projects 
completed during 2018/19 resulting 
in community benefits or internal 
efficiencies.

Council Fraud Investigation Team 
became the first nationally to win the 
Excellence in Counter Fraud award 
for three years running from the 
Institute of Revenues Rating and 
Valuation.  [Winner of/Shortlisted as 
Finalists tbc for] the Local 

Government Chronicle Team of the 
Year award. 

Achieved significant growth in our 
Fraud service working with other 
organisations in the private & public 
sector, increasing target income for 
the council by 400%. 

Priorities for 2018 – 2020

Delivery of the updated Oxford Direct 
Services business plan, which will 
increase capital investment and 
boost the rate of growth and income 
generated for the Council.

Continue to work to increase the 
diversity of the Council’s workforce to 
better reflect the communities we 
serve and ensure we are seen as an 
employer of choice.

Maintain our awards including 
Customer Service Excellence Payroll 
Assurance Scheme and Investors in 
People accreditation.

Deliver a new Customer and Digital 
Technology Strategy to further 
improve our customer experience, 
self-service opportunities and 
automation of our processes.

Implement a new system to make it 
easier for residents to make 
payments through a range of digital 
and non-digital channels.

Continue to invest in critical digital 
and technology to further improve 
the security of the City Council’s 

Success Measures 2018/2019 
Targets

2018/2019 Projected Outcome

Level of staff engagement based on best 
companies staff survey results

Positive Achieved

The percentage of customer satisfied at 
first point of contact

85% On track 

Delivery of the Council’s cost savings and 
income targets

£4684,000 On track.

37



5. An Efficient and Effective Council
A customer-focused organisation, delivering efficient, high quality services that meet people’s needs 

systems, ensure the health and 
safety of staff, residents and service 
users; and to enable staff to better 
work remotely, increase their 
efficiency in responding to service 
users’ needs, facilitate collaboration, 
and increase digital skills.

Formation of a Social Housing 
Provider Data Hub to proactively 
tackle tenancy fraud and abuse.

Invest £34,000 to create a mobile 
accessibility app to make it easier for 
people with a disability to access city 
venues. 

Development of a new Oxford City 
Council Corporate Plan to set out our 
strategy and objectives for delivering 
high quality services for the people of 
Oxford for the period beyond 2020.

38



.

To: City Executive Board

Date: 13 March 2019

Report of: Head of Regulatory Services and Community Safety

Title of Report: Approach to the City Centre Public Spaces Protection 
Order

Purpose of report: To approve the approach to setting standards of behaviour 
in the City Centre.

Key decision: Yes

Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Tom Hayes, Board Member for Safer, Greener 
Oxford

Corporate Priority: Strong and Active Communities.

Policy Framework: Corporate Enforcement Policy, Anti-social Behaviour 
Policy

Recommendations:That the City Executive Board resolves to:

1. Approve a city centre consultation process to determine the standards 
of acceptable behaviour in the city centre and the acceptability and 
appropriateness of a City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order for 
tackling particular behaviours. 

2. Endorse the use of the Anti-social Behaviour Enforcement Policy to 
address behaviours in the city centre addressed by the 2016-19 City 
Centre Public Space Protection Order

Appendices

Appendix 1 2016-19 City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order

Appendix 2 City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order intervention 
activities: 1st Feb 2016 – 31st Dec 2019

39

Agenda Item 8



Appendix 3 Equality Impact Assessment

Appendix 4 Risk Assessment

Introduction and background 
1. Oxford City Council is committed to reducing antisocial behaviour and building 

stronger cohesive communities. Working with partners – including Thames Valley 
Police - and communities, the Council takes a stand against antisocial behaviour, 
moving away from the situation where people tolerate problems to one where 
everyone enjoys the highest quality of life and work together to tackle problems.

2. Antisocial behaviour is that which is detrimental to the quality of life of people in a 
locality and is persistent and unreasonable. This can include graffiti, fly tipping, 
verbal or racial abuse, drug dealing or misuse, vandalism, and behaviour that 
cause harassment, distress or alarm to others.

3. Oxford City Council tackles antisocial behaviour with several tools, and that can 
include the use of Public Space Protection Orders (PSPO), as provided for by 
Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (2014 Act). 
This Council maintains community safety within a legal framework set by 
Government.

4. The City Centre PSPO (Appendix 1) began on the 1st February 2016 and expired 
on 31st January 2019. 

5. The Council seeks to appraise whether that Order should be continued for each of 
the prohibitions contained within it to tackle anti-social behaviour, and public and 
business concerns about inappropriate behaviour. 

6. Prior to considering a future City Centre PSPO the Council wishes to consult the 
people and businesses who make up the city centre on what they see as 
acceptable behaviour and the acceptability and appropriateness of a City Centre 
Public Spaces Protection Order for tackling it. A range of techniques will be 
engaged to ensure that all stakeholders have an opportunity to be heard.

7. The proposed open-ended consultation sits prior, and additional, to a consultation 
process, required by statute, which would be undertaken if this Council decided on 
the basis of the open-ended consultation to take forward a PSPO as a suitable 
option. Our intention is to have the broadest possible consultation and fully listen to 
a wide range of people and views on the Order. Our intention was not to take a 
decision on whether (or not) to renew the Order without hearing from those 
affected.

8. The consultation will include focus groups and a Public Attitude Survey.  Focus 
groups will involve residents and visitors, businesses and people from the 
homeless sector including those with lived experience.  Focus group insights will 
inform the content of the survey which will be available on-line.  It will be promoted 
widely through social media, on-street activities and through stakeholder 
organisations.

9. By enabling the Order’s expiry, the Council is able to appraise whether real-world 
behavioural change is in fact dependent upon an Order being in place for each of 
the prohibitions contained within it. A measure of success for the Order in relation 
to each prohibition is its effectiveness at changing behaviour from that which is 

40



legally deemed anti-social in order that everyone can enjoy the highest quality of 
life and work.

10. We hope for Member review, through the formal Scrutiny process, of our proposed 
consultation(s) and the decisions take in responses to stakeholders’ views.

11. The purpose of a PSPO), as defined by national law, is to set out standards of 
acceptable behaviour in an area, based upon those behaviours being, or likely to 
be detrimental, persistent and unreasonable to those in the area.  A PSPO is 
similar in intent to a byelaw; they have a preventative purpose by setting out 
standards of acceptable behaviour in an area.  This is a crucial difference to most 
other legal remedies to address anti-social behaviour which are used against a 
named individual in reaction to anti-social occurring.

12. Breaching a PSPO is a criminal offence and can be dealt with by serving a £100 
Fixed Penalty Notice or prosecution in court, carrying a maximum fine of £1,000.  
The court decides on the appropriate sanction if a person is found guilty.

13. The Council has a graduated approach to enforcement that is set out in the Anti-
social Behaviour Enforcement Policy. This requires officers to operate the lowest 
possible level of intervention that is suitable to the case, most often involving a 
process of engagement and words of advice.

14. The interventions used for breaches of the City Centre PSPO between 1st February 
2016 and 31st December 2019 can be found in Appendix 2, Of the nearly 1,000 
incidents that warranted intervention and advice over a three year period, it was 
deemed necessary to follow this up with enforcement action on six occasions; five 
fixed penalty notices (four for trading as a peddler and one for somebody in charge 
of a dog within a restricted area breaching the terms of the Order) and one 
prosecution for remaining in a public toilet without reasonable excuse.

15. The one prosecution involved an individual injecting drugs in Gloucester Green 
toilets, discarding drug paraphernalia and abusing Oxford City Council staff. After 
lengthy engagement, the City Council asked for a non-financial penalty and a 
Criminal Behaviour Order. This was obtained and has prevented the individual from 
accessing the city centre, continuing to be aggressive, discarding or showing drug 
paraphernalia in public, and leaving litter and rubbish lying around.

Setting standards of behaviour and protecting vulnerable citizens in the city 
centre
16. The city centre is a unique area of the city, attracting millions of visitors each year, 

and as the retail and entertainment hub of the city, and the workplace for 
thousands of employees, it has a very high footfall.

17. Prior to considering a future City Centre PSPO the Council wishes to ascertain the 
views of the people and businesses that make up the city centre on what they see 
as acceptable behaviour.  The consultation process will ensure that the voices of 
residents, rough sleepers, the business community, visitors and those that work in 
the city centre, during the day or at night, are included.

18. We are a listening Council and want to ensure our enforcement powers are right 
and proportionate for the types of behaviour deemed acceptable by the residents, 
rough sleepers, employees, employers, and visitors from Oxford, the county, and 
further away.

41



19. This Council is sensitive to the tough trading conditions of our high streets, and 
those across the country, and the need to encourage shoppers and visitors to 
spend more time in the city centre. Taking into account the views of businesses 
located in the city centre will be important.

20. The Council has a responsibility to all of Oxford’s businesses, visitors, residents, 
and rough sleepers to provide a safer city, as well as a responsibility to the 
vulnerable population of the city, which the Council has a moral and statutory duty 
to protect, support, and treat with dignity and without discrimination.

21. This Council is sensitive to the concerns of some about the use of such powers in 
respect of vulnerable people, especially those sleeping rough in the city centre. The 
Council categorically will not serve any enforcement power on somebody because 
they are sleeping rough or are homeless. The Council addresses behaviours which 
meet the legal test of being anti-social, using the PSPO as a last resort in a long 
process of engagement, and these behaviours can be undertaken by people who 
are housed as well as sleeping rough homeless. As a compassionate and caring 
Council, this Council is working with partners to end the need for anyone to sleep 
rough on the city’s streets. 

22. Rough sleeping is a visible manifestation of a national homelessness crisis. Oxford 
and a number of cities are experiencing a sharp rise in homelessness and rough 
sleeping. 

23. As this Council believes that rough sleeping is harmful and dangerous to both the 
physical and mental health of individuals, it focuses on early intervention and 
prevention approaches and operates an assertive outreach service to offer people 
all possible opportunities to move off the street. 

24. The current Corporate Enforcement Policy and Antisocial Behaviour Policy has an 
explicit requirement to act proportionately to the risk – with consideration of a 
person’s support needs and safeguarding risks always being the priority. Owing to 
the first-hand face-to-face contact by Oxford City Council with rough sleepers and 
the street-based population, we are conscious of and sensitive to needs and risks.

25. The Council’s multi-agency case management approach provides an in-depth 
understanding of the history and current circumstances of vulnerable people 
causing anti-social behaviour in the city centre.  In the majority of cases this 
approach enables the Council and other partners to address anti-social behaviour 
without the need of legal remedies.

26. The results of the consultation will be used to determine what behaviour is 
acceptable to the wide range of city centre residents, rough sleepers, businesses, 
and visitors consulted and whether a PSPO is an appropriate mechanism to 
change behaviour, so that everyone enjoys the highest quality of life and work.

27. A further consultation process, required by statute, will then be undertaken if this 
Council decided to take forward a PSPO as a suitable option.  The Council will 
consult again with key stakeholders on the specific standards set out in the Order.

Interim measures to address anti-social behaviour in the city centre
28. While the Council consults on the kinds of behaviour which key stakeholders find 

acceptable, it will operate the range of existing legal remedies available to address 
anti-social behaviour, including Community Protection Notices (CPN), Civil 
Injunctions and Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBO).  

42



29. The legal tests for CPNs are the same as a PSPO; behaviour needs to be 
detrimental, persistent and unreasonable.  A City Executive Board review of the 
processes for the issuing of Community Protection Notices ran from October 2017 
to January 2018, and had significant council and member involvement and 
attention given to these powers. A senior officer review of all five cases in 2016 and 
2017 involving the issuing of CPNs against behaviour by rough sleepers was 
carried out by the Corporate Affairs Lead Officer and then reported to the Executive 
Director Sustainable City. 

30. The CPN Review found that in all cases the Council’s policies in respect of these 
matters had been followed appropriately. The Board Member initiated a Cross-
Party Panel to examine the respective policy positions on enforcement against 
antisocial behaviour to consider the Senior Officer Review’s findings and the 
policies underpinning the enforcement actions taken. The Panel agreed with the 
CPN Review and its conclusions. It also endorsed the current Corporate 
Enforcement Policy and Antisocial Behaviour Policy with their explicit requirement 
to act proportionately to the risk – with consideration of a person’s support needs 
and safeguarding risks always being the priority.

31. There are two citywide PSPOs that include the city centre area, both expiring in 
October 2020.  The Alcohol PSPO addresses alcohol-related disorder in public 
spaces.  An offence is committed if a person refuses to surrender alcohol when 
requested by an authorised officer.

32. The Dog Control PSPO addresses dog fouling, the number of dogs a person has in 
their control, dogs in children’s play areas and dogs on leads.  The difference 
between the City Centre PSPO and the citywide Dog Control PSPO is the former 
required dogs to be on leads at all times, not by direction of an officer.

33. The City Centre PSPO contains restrictions on peddling, street entertainment and 
cycling restrictions.  Cases that meet the detrimental, persistent and unreasonable 
test can be dealt with using a process which involves the CPN as a last resort.

34. The cycling prohibitions in Queen Street and Cornmarket Street are set by a Traffic 
Management Order and officers will continue to advise people cycling in 
contravention of the Order to desist from doing so. 

35. Aggressive begging, remaining in a public toilet without a reasonable excuse and 
urination and defecation impact on all people, including with vulnerabilities or who 
may have limited financial means.  The Council has an approach in place as such.

36. Where multi-agency engagement and support does not address the anti-social 
behaviour, the Council can issue a CPN Warning with the necessary advice, 
consistent with the agreed recommendations of the CPN Review from January 
2018.  Continuation of the behaviour will result in the Council determining, on a 
case-by-case basis, the public interest in serving a Fixed Penalty Notice or seeking 
a prosecution at Court and take the appropriate action.

Legal issues
37. Section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (2014 Act) 

provides Oxford City Council with the power to make a PSPO The legal tests  for a 
PSPO focus on the impact that anti-social behaviour is having on victims and 
communities. A PSPO can be made by the Council if it is satisfied on reasonable 
grounds that the activity or behaviour concerned, carried out, or likely to be carried 
out, in a public space:

43



 Has had, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality;

 Is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;

 Is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and,

 Justifies the restrictions imposed.
38. The Council is further required by the Human Rights Act 1998 not to interfere 

disproportionately with the rights protected by the European Convention on Human 
Rights. 

39. The use of anti-social behaviour enforcement powers are contained in the Council’s 
Anti-social Behaviour Enforcement Policy and Procedures, updated recently in line 
with the recommendations of the CPN Review.

Financial issues
40. The consultation process will be funded through existing budgets.

Level of risk
41. There is a risk that the Council does not address the standards of behaviour 

expected by the public in the city centre.  The consultation process will mitigate this 
risk by ascertaining what the public believe is acceptable behaviour.

42. There are risks associated with striking an appropriate balance in enforcement of 
anti-social behaviour and community protection.  These are explored in the report.

43. There are risks resulting from the perceived relationship between the drugs supply 
and aggressive begging. Figures from our partner Thames Valley Police show that, 
from a total of 18 individuals served a second aggressive begging warning, 16 
experienced substance misuse issues. Our aim is to support people with substance 
misuse issues to access recovery support which is available immediately to them. 
Oxford City Council is seeking the view of Thames Valley Police and Turning Point 
the substance abuse service, on the advisability of retaining the Order for 
aggressive begging on drugs supply-related grounds.

44. The powers to address anti-social behaviour are available to Council officers.  The 
lack of officers available to deal with these issues at key times when they are most 
prevalent, will limit their effectiveness. If we choose to have the powers, the Council 
needs to have the people in the right places at the right times to change behaviour.

Equalities impact 
45. All people with protected characteristics, including people with vulnerabilities, will 

have an equal opportunity to engage with the consultation process.
46. People with vulnerabilities who are committing anti-social behaviour.  These 

vulnerabilities and all safeguarding considerations are considered on a case-by-
case basis.

Report author Richard Adams

Job title Community Safety Service Manager

44



Service area or department Regulatory Services and Community Safety

Telephone 01865 252969

e-mail rjadams@oxford.gov.uk

45



Appendix 1: 2016-19 City Centre PSPO
OXFORD CITY COUNCIL

ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME AND POLICING ACT 2014
PART 4, SECTION 59

PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER

Oxford City Council (the Council) in exercise of the power under section 59 of The Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act), being satisfied that the conditions set out in 
section 59 of the Act have been met, makes the following order:
1. The  Order applies to the public areas shown delineated by the black line on the plan 

annexed to this Order (the Restricted Area):
a) No person shall aggressively beg.  Aggressive begging includes begging near a cash 

machine or begging in a manner reasonably perceived to be intimidating or aggressive.
b) No person shall remain in a public toilet without reasonable excuse.
c) No person shall urinate or defecate in a public place. This includes the doorway or alcove 

of any premises to which the public has access.
d) No person shall cycle within Queen Street or Cornmarket Street outside the permitted 

cycling times of 6 p.m. to 10 a.m.
e) No person shall perform any type of street entertainment that causes a nuisance to nearby 

premises or members of the public.  This includes obstructing the highway or shop 
entrances, or using street furniture including public seats, lamp posts and railings.

f) No person trading as a pedlar shall:
 remain in any location for more than 10 minutes unless it is to complete a transaction. 
 locate themselves within 50 metres of their previous location. 
 return to any location already occupied in the last three hours.
 obstruct the highway or shop entrances.

g) No person shall refuse to stop drinking alcohol or hand over any containers (sealed or 
unsealed) which are believed to contain alcohol, when required, to do so by an authorised 
officer in order to prevent public nuisance or disorder. 

h) Any person in charge of a dog within the restricted area shall be in breach of this Order if 
he/she:
 fails to keep the dog on a lead and under physical control at all times. 
 is found to be in charge of more than four dogs at the same time whilst in a public 

place.
 allows the dog to foul in a public place and then fails to remove the waste and dispose 

of it in an appropriate receptacle.
 allows the dog to enter any covered public space.

The provisions of this order relating to the control of dogs shall not apply to any person who is 
registered blind in accordance with section 29 of The National Assistance Act 1948, to any 
person who is deaf and in charge of a dog trained by Hearing Dogs for Deaf People and to any 
person suffering a disability and in charge of a dog trained to assist with his/her mobility, 
manual dexterity, physical coordination or ability to lift and carry everyday objects and the said 
dog has been trained by a prescribed charity.
Any person who, without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with the requirements of this 
Order commits an offence and shall be liable, on summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding 
level 3 on the standard scale.

46



Appendix 2: City Centre PSPO intervention activities: 1st Feb 2016 – 31st Dec 2019

Prohibition Intervention level

No person shall aggressively beg. Aggressive begging includes begging 
near a cash machine or begging in a manner reasonably perceived to be 
intimidating or aggressive.

Advice - 96
FPN - 0
Prosecution - 0

No person shall remain in a public toilet without reasonable excuse. Advice - 1
FPN - 0
Prosecution - 1

No person shall urinate or defecate in a public place. This includes the 
doorway or alcove of any premises to which the public has access.

Advice - 2
FPN - 0
Prosecution - 0

No person shall cycle within Queen Street or Cornmarket Street outside the 
permitted cycling times of 6 p.m. to 10 a.m.

Advice - 661
FPN - 0
Prosecution – 0

No person shall perform any type of street entertainment that causes a 
nuisance to nearby premises or members of the public. This includes 
obstructing the highway or shop entrances, or using street furniture including 
public seats, lamp posts and railings.

Advice - 18
FPN - 0
Prosecution - 0

No person trading as a pedlar shall: 

 remain in any location for more than 10 minutes unless it is to complete 
a transaction. 

 locate themselves within 50 metres of their previous location. 
 return to any location already occupied in the last three hours. 
 obstruct the highway or shop entrances.

Advice - 154
FPN - 4
Prosecution - 0

No person shall refuse to stop drinking alcohol or hand over any containers 
(sealed or unsealed) which are believed to contain alcohol, when required, 
to do so by an authorised officer in order to prevent public nuisance or 
disorder.

Advice - 18
FPN - 0
Prosecution - 0

Any person in charge of a dog within the restricted area shall be in breach of 
this Order if he/she: 

 fails to keep the dog on a lead and under physical control at all times.
 is found to be in charge of more than four dogs at the same time whilst in 

a public place.
 allows the dog to foul in a public place and then fails to remove the 

waste and dispose of it in an appropriate receptacle. 
 allows the dog to enter any covered public space

Advice - 13
FPN - 1
Prosecution - 0

47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3: City Centre consultation on standards of behaviour – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 1 of 4

Form to be used for the Full Equalities Impact Assessment

Service Area:

Community 
Services

Section:

Community 
Safety

Date of Initial 
assessment:
25th January 
2019

Key Person responsible for 
assessment: 
Richard Adams

Date assessment commenced:

25th January 2019

Name of Policy to be assessed: CEB Report: To approve the approach to setting standards of behaviour in the City Centre.
Race Disability Age 

Gender reassignment Religion or  Belief Sexual Orientation
1. In what area are there concerns 
that the policy could have a 
differential impact

Sex Pregnancy and Maternity Marriage & Civil Partnership
Other strategic/ equalities 
considerations

Safeguarding/ Welfare of 
Children and vulnerable 

adults

Mental Wellbeing/ 
Community Resilience

2. Background:

Give the background information to 
the policy and the perceived 
problems with the policy which are 
the reason for the Impact 
Assessment.

Oxford City Council is proposing to consult on the standards of acceptable behaviour in Oxford City 
Centre, and endorse the use of anti-social behaviour powers to address the issues contained in the 
previous City Centre Public Spaces Protection Order.

The assessment makes due regard to whether implementation of the order will:
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited under 

the Equalities Act;

49



Appendix 3: City Centre consultation on standards of behaviour – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 2 of 4

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it.

3. Methodology and Sources of 
Data:

The methods used to collect data and 
what sources of data

The equality impact concerns are:
1. All people with protected characteristics will have an equal opportunity to engage with the 

consultation process.
2. People with vulnerabilities who are committing anti-social behaviour.  These vulnerabilities 

and all safeguarding considerations are considered on a case-by-case basis.

4. Consultation

This section should outline all the 
consultation that has taken place on 
the EIA. It should include the 
following. 
• Why you carried out the 

consultation.
• Details about how you went 
about it. 
• A summary of the replies you 

received from people you 
consulted.

• An assessment of your 
proposed policy (or policy 
options) in the light of the 
responses you received.

• A statement of what you plan 
to do next

The consultation process will ensure that the voices of residents, the business community, visitors 
and those that work in the city centre are included.  The protected characteristics will be considered 
in the development of the consultation process and appropriate mechanisms used to ensure equal 
opportunity to engage with the process is available to all.

When addressing anti-social behaviour by people with protected characteristics, the Council[s ASB 
Enforcement Policy and Corporate Enforcement Policy sets out requirements on officers to consider 
these issues.  Safeguarding, engagement and support are key considerations in all cases, 
particularly those with vulnerabilities.

50



Appendix 3: City Centre consultation on standards of behaviour – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 3 of 4

5. Assessment of Impact:
Provide details of the assessment of 
the policy on the six primary equality 
strands. There may have been other 
groups or individuals that you 
considered. Please also consider 
whether the policy, strategy or 
spending decisions could have an 
impact on safeguarding and / or the 
welfare of children and vulnerable 
adults

Use of legal remedies.
As described in the report, there are a range of existing legal remedies available to address anti-
social behaviour, including Community Protection Notices (CPN), Civil Injunctions and Criminal 
Behaviour Orders (CBO).  The legal tests for CPNs are similar to a PSPO; the behaviour needs to 
be detrimental, persistent and unreasonable.
Aggressive begging, remaining in a public toilet without a reasonable excuse and urination and 
defecation are more likely to impact on people with vulnerabilities.

6. Consideration of Measures:

This section should explain in detail 
all the consideration of alternative 
approaches/mitigation of adverse 
impact of the policy

The Council’s multi-agency case management approach provides an in-depth understanding of the 
history and current circumstances of vulnerable people causing anti-social behaviour in the city 
centre.  In the majority of cases this approach enables the Council and other partners to address 
anti-social behaviour without the need of legal remedies. 
Where multi-agency engagement and support does not address the anti-social behaviour, the 
Council can issue a CPN Warning with the necessary advice.  Continuation of the behaviour will 
result in the Council determining, on a case-by-case basis, the public interest in serving a Fixed 
Penalty Notice or seeking a prosecution at Court and take the appropriate action.

6a. Monitoring Arrangements:

Outline systems which will be put in 
place to monitor for adverse impact in 
the future and this should include all 
relevant timetables. In addition it 
could include a summary and 
assessment of your monitoring, 
making clear whether you found any 
evidence of discrimination. 

The multi-agency case management panel will continue to assess the use of all enforcement 
actions, first taking into consideration the support needs of the individual.

Advice, warnings and enforcement of the PSPO will be logged in pocket notebooks and council and 
police databases.

7. Date reported and signed off by January 2019

51



Appendix 3: City Centre consultation on standards of behaviour – Equalities Impact Assessment

Page 4 of 4

City Executive Board: 
8. Conclusions:

What are your conclusions drawn 
from the results in terms of the policy 
impact

A consultation on acceptable standards of behaviour in the city centre will enable people who live, 
work or visit the city centre to give their views.  Additional efforts will be made to ensure those with 
protected characteristics have an equal opportunity to engage in the process.  

Use of enforcement powers to address anti-social behaviour in the city centre is governed by the 
Council’s policies which require consideration of safeguarding and support needs of those involved 
in anti-social behaviour.

9. Are there implications 
for the Service Plans? No 10. Date the Service 

Plans will be updated April 2019

11. Date copy sent 
to Equalities 
Officer in HR & 
Facilities

January 
2019

.13. Date reported to 
Scrutiny and Executive 
Board:

February 2019 14. Date reported to City 
Executive Board: February 2019

12. The date the 
report on EqIA will 
be published

February 
2019

Signed (completing officer) Signed (Lead Officer)

Please list the team members and service areas that were involved in this process:

Richard Adams, Service Manager

52



Appendix 4: City Centre consultation on standards of behaviour - Risk Assessment

Date Raised Owner Gross Current Residual Comments Controls

Title Risk description Opp/ threat Cause Consequence I P I P I P Control description Due date Status Progress % Action Owner

Standard of behaviour
in the city centre
consultation

Negative public
perception of Oxford city
centre, impacting on
safety and the local
economy. The Council
does not address the
standards of behaviour
expected by the public in
the city centre.

T - ASB is not
addressed

Expiry of the City Centre
PSPO.

Negative public feedback January 2019 Laurie Taylor 3 3 3 2 2 2 Consultation results inform
the Council's approach to
ASB in the city centre.

April 2019 On-going Laurie Taylor, Richard
Adams

Reputational risk when
using legal remedies
to address anti-social
behaviour involving
people with
vulnerabilities or in an
insecure housing
situation.

Negative public
perception due to
negative press

Council
reputation

Public understanding of
the use of powers to
address anti-social
behaviour where a person
is thought to be
vulnerable.

Negative reputation of
council

January 2019 Richard Adams 3 3 3 3 2 2 Comms approach has
been assisting in
informing the public that
legal remedies are part
of a graduated
approach to
enforcement that
includes engagement,
advice and support.

The application of the
existing ASB Policy on a
case-by-case basis.

February 2019 On-going Richard Adams, Simon
Manton

53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Quarter 3 April 2018 to December 2018: Leisure contract performance dashboard. 
 
Participation 
 
Review of overall active participation visits  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Overall member and non-member active participation visits 
 
 
 
  

April to 
December 

17/18 

April to 
December 

18/19 

Year to date 
change in 

visits 

Year on year 

% Change 

773,750 1,022,288 248,538 32% 

 

 

 

 Apr to Dec 
17/18  

Apr to Dec 
18/19 

Apr to Dec 
year on year 

change in 
visits 

Apr to Dec 
year on year 

% change   

Member visits 552,104 816,045 263,941 48% 
Non-Member 

visits 
223,470 252,743 29,273 13% 

 
Individual Participants 
 
There are 3,190 individual active direct debit or annually paying members using  
our leisure facilities, in addition to casual pay as you play customers (ca253,000 
transactions). Local authorities and leisure providers use individual participation  
visits as a measure of usage for leisure centres. This is a standard performance 
indicator used for national benchmarking. 
 

55

A
genda Item

 9



 
Review of target group active participation  
 

 

 
April to 

December 
17/18 

 
April to 

December 
18/19 

Year on 
year 

change 

Young people 
(Under 17years of age) 

128,126 128,249 123 

Older people 
(60+ years of age) 

81,508 87,495 5,987 

People with a disability 9,213 10,167 954 

People from our BAME 
communities 

41,811 58,887 17,076 

Usage from deprived areas 49,582 53,140 3,558 

Women and girls 249,449 249,208 -241 

Total 559,689 587,146 27,457 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
The Councils corporate leisure performance measure, the 
number of people from our target groups using our leisure 
facilities, is demonstrating a good direction of travel; a 5% year 

on year increase in visits. 
 

 

56



Facility and Operation Management 
 
Continuous improvement 
 
Fusion Lifestyle (Fusion) has implemented a service development improvement programme for Oxford leisure facilities. This incorporates 
improvement actions identified through client audits, mystery visits, and customer feedback, amongst other stakeholder contribution that 
supports continuous improvement. 
 
Progress against their development programme is owned and communicated by Fusion’s Director for Operations and formally reviewed at 
monthly Client Performance review meetings. 
 
Since the last reporting period 60 % of 456 improvement actions identified were completed by Fusion, with the remaining 40% underway. 

 

Customer Satisfaction 
 
Overall Customer satisfaction by theme, April 2018 to December 2018 
 

 
Average Overall 

Satisfaction 
Apr to Dec 2018 

 
83% 

 
Industry Average 

 
72%1 

 

Satisfaction by category in December 2018 

Staff 
Range of 
Activities 

Building 
Condition 

Cleanliness 
Value for 
money 

Equipment 
Ease of 
Booking 

Ease of 
Gaining 

Info 
Website 

91% 90% 81% 68% 88% 69% 87% 67% 74% 

 
  

                                            
1
 APSE Sport & Leisure Trend Analysis, 2016/17 

57



Quality 
 
National Accreditation  
 
All five of the Council’s leisure facilities remain accredited to the UK Quality award scheme for sport and leisure, QUEST. 
 
Independent evaluation 
 
Officers have continued to support and work with the internal auditors review to assess the design of controls and their effectiveness related to 
the Fusion Partnership.  The focus of this review has principally been on evaluating deeper Fusion’s customer service arrangements, how they 
engage with the customer voice and how this is listened to and acted upon both reactively and proactively.  
 
Following agreement of initial terms of reference for this review, approval was subsequently made to incorporate an additional piece of work to 
review the robustness of Fusions performance data element. This additional work required an extension to the timeline for the auditors to 
complete more fieldwork. 
 
Our internal auditors advise that their final report is planned for issue to the Audit & Governance Committee on Monday 11 March 2019. 
 
 

Finance 
 
 Fusion Lifestyle 

Delphi Credit Report Changes 

Month 
(2018/19) 

Delphi Score  
(out of 100) 

Risk 

April 79 Medium 

May 79 Medium 

June 85 Low 

July 85 Low 

August 85 Low 

September 87 Low 

October 77 Medium 

November 75 Medium 

December 75 Medium 

The Commercial Delphi score is an analytical tool designed to highlight the strength, 
performance and ultimately the creditworthiness of a company in a single score.  

The score ranges from 0 to 100 with the lowest scoring companies carrying the highest 
risk. 

58



 Performance Summary  

Green = target met Scrutiny Committee Trends compare relative performance with
Amber = within tolerance  Prd: previous month
Red = outside tolerance   Prev Year End: previous March
 Dec-2018 Year on Year: the same period from the previous year
Measure Latest Data Trends

Ref Description

Owner Result 
2017/18

Target Result

Year End 
Target 

2018/19

RAG

Prd Year on 
Year

Comments

BIT019i BIT019i: % all contact 
carried out online

Helen 
Bishop

38.5% 40.0% 37.0% 40.0% A  
 

Overall performance (year to date) was 37.0%, 
with in-month performance for December at 40.5%
December saw a seasonal drop in overall contact 
volumes of 28.3% from November. 
For online transactions there was a drop of 11%. 
However, volumes were 16.5% higher than in 
December 2017, largely due to more webform 
submissions and online payments.
Seasonal drops in volumes for telephones (-
28.3%) and face-to-face (-27.3%) were also seen, 
but with face to face having a higher volume than 
in December 2017

WR001 WR001: Number of 
people moved into 
work by the Welfare 
Reform Programme

Paul 
Wilding

65
 Number

31 
Number

29
Number

42 
Number

A  
 

 We remain on track to achieve our into work target 
this year.

BV009 BV009: Percentage of 
Council Tax collected

Tanya 
Bandekar

97.79% 85.00% 84.373% 98.00% A  
 

 

The position remains as it was at the end of Nov. 
We are collecting more money than in 17/18, but 
due to the 5.7% tax rise from 01/04/18 and the 
fact that we now have more dwellings our 
collection rate is down on the 17/18 equivalent. As 
at 31/12 we were some £549k short of the monthly 
target. Revenues managers are concentrating 
resources on collection of all overdue amounts 
and we hope to get collection back on track before 
year end.

BI001 BI001: The % of 
Council spend with 
local business

Amanda 
Durnan

59.80% 54.00% 59.35% 54.00% G
  

This was originally submitted with some DS 
figures missing which have now been updated.  
We’re continuing to watch this KPI to see how DS 
impacts the %.

Measure Latest Data Trends

Ref

Owner Result 
2017/18

Target Result

Year End 
Target 

2018/19

RAG

Prd Year on 

Comments

59

A
genda Item

 10



Year
CS025 CS025: Percentage of 

Business Rates 
Collected

Tanya 
Bandekar

96.40% 84.00% 83.48% 98.50% A  
 

 December saw positive improvement in collection 
of the 18/19 debit. At the start of the month we 
were 768k short of the profiled target but this had 
reduced to £553k by the end of Dec. We collected 
9.2% of the year's debit in Dec compared to 
8.44% and 8.70% in the previous 2 months. Every 
effort is being made to get collection fully back on 
track by the end of the financial year.

CS054 CS054: Time taken to 
determine DHP 
applications

Paul 
Wilding

11 
Working 

Days

10 
Working 

Days

12 
Working 

Days

10 Working 
Days

A  The average assessment time for the year 
continues to drop now we are fully staffed. With 
the month average for December being just 5 
days. We are set to be back within target by EOY.

CH001 CH001: Days lost to 
sickness

Paul 
Adams

8.69 
days

5.22 
days

5.31 
days

7.00 
days 

A The projected sickness absence across all service 
areas remains above the Council target rate for 
2018/19. In addition to out-turn absence rates for 
a number of service areas being expected to 
remain above the target rate figure, detailed 
analysis of absence data for the same period in 
2017/18 has also been completed. This process 
has revealed that the number of days lost to long-
term sickness is substantially higher, but short-
term absence is lower. In addition the number 
days lost to stress, depression, anxiety and mental 
health is significantly higher than for same period 
in 2017/18. HR Business Partners are meeting 
with relevant line managers in each of these 
service areas to review sickness absence 
casework and agree management interventions 
(including OHS referral and return to work 
arrangements) to reduce sickness absence levels. 
It is also anticipated that the recently launched 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Programme will, in 
time, have a positive impact on reducing absence 
due to mental health related absence as well as 
create internal resource and capacity to provide 
supplementary support at service level.

Measure Owner Result Latest Data RAG Trends Comments

Ref 2017/18 Target Result

Year End 
Target 

2018/19 Prd Year on 
Year

60



ED002 ED002:Implementation 
of measures to reduce 
the city council’s 
carbon footprint by 5% 
each year

Paul 
Robinson

461  
Tonnes

360 
Tonnes

381 
Tonnes

429  
Tonnes

G Completion of SAC first floor wireless TRV project 
- estimated to reduce CO2 emissions by 2tCO2/yr
Various Salix funded and other CO2 reduction 
projects in process - Solar Car port at Leys pools, 
microCHP fuel cell installations, LED lighting 
project being developed for Town Hall misc 
conservation sensitive areas. Closed billing 
validation queries - year to date - 172 successfully 
closed queries equivalent to avoided spend of 
£28,942.89 -

LP119 LP119: The number 
people taking part in 
our youth ambition 
programme

Ian Brooke 6,022 
Number

4,500 
Number

4,848  
Number

6,000 
Number

G  
  

We are currently on target and have had a 
successful summer which is in part due to the 
good weather and improved promotion. The 
holiday activities / YA final figures for summer 
have now all been received and this has helped to 
show an increase on last year’s performance to 
date. The numbers in December generally reduce 
at this time of year.

CS003
CS003: Customer calls 
answered on the 
council’s main 
telephone service lines 
without hanging up

Helen 
Bishop

95.49% 95.00% 94.19% 95.00% A
Compared to November the number of calls 
received reduced by 5207 although in general 
December is a quieter month due to the bank 
holidays. We continued to have resource 
challenges throughout December as we looked to 
recruit to 2 vacant posts. In addition from October, 
due to the implementation of Bartec the missed 
bins automated line no longer worked which 
meant an additional 15-20 calls per day have been 
routed into the Contact Centre. Our telephony 
provider Netcall are working closely with Bartec to 
resolve this issue with a planned completion date 
of Feb19.

Measure Latest Data Trends Comments

Ref Description

Owner Result
2017/18

Target Result

Year End 
Target 

2018/19

Rag

Prd Year 
On 

Year
FN045 Percentage of 

overpaid Housing 
Tanya 

Bandekar
Not 

Recorded
83% 77% 83%

R
As expected Dec was a difficult month for 
collection. New overpayments identified totalled 

61



Benefit collected £222k whilst overpayments recovered, either by 
deductions of Housing Benefit, or by actual 
payments received, totalled £170k. The Dec result 
was thus 76.2%, down on the challenging target of 
83%. The year to date result is currently 77.1%. 
Every attempt will be made over the three 
remaining months of the period to improve that 
result.

LP220 LP220: Number of 
people from our target 
groups using our 
leisure facilities

Ian Brooke 992,316 
Number

440,215 
Number

587,146 
Number

586, 953 
Number G

Our leisure provider is continuing to report strong 
month on month growth for active participation 
visits and increased overall visits YOY. Fusion has 
pushed debtor collection & raising of invoices, 
continued to increase attention to gate access, 
reviewed block bookings numbers & there has 
been an increase in members usage; These have 
increased capture of data for usage.

CS004 CS004: Enquiries 
resolved by customer 
service centre without 
hand off

Helen 
Bishop 94.48% 100.00% 94.10% 100.00% R

Again we were very strong in resolution of calls 
1st time in December which meant that this would 
reduce the number of repeat calls from customers 
chasing resolution of their queries.

CoS031 CoS031: Effective 
delivery of the capital 
programme

Ian 
Brooke

Not 
Recorded

82% 81% 82% A

 The section 278 agreement is now with the 
County for approval. The approval of this will 
enable the final road junction works to be 
completed at site.

We are working through final feasibility on 
Bullingdon community centre until May 2019. Will 
be looking to go to CEB by September 2019.

62



.

To: City Executive Board
Date: 13 March 2019
Report of: Scrutiny Committee
Title of Report: Scrutiny Committee Recommendations Concerning 

Street Art and Graffiti

Summary and recommendations
Purpose of report: To present Scrutiny Committee recommendations 

concerning Street Art and Graffiti
Key decision:
Scrutiny Lead 
Member:

No
Councillor Andrew Gant, Chair of the Scrutiny Committee

Executive Board 
Member:

Councillor Tom Hayes, Board Member for Safer, Greener, 
Environment 

Corporate Priority: A Clean and Green Oxford; Strong and Active 
Communities 

Policy Framework: Corporate Plan 2016 - 2020

Recommendation: That the City Executive Board states whether it agrees 
or disagrees with the recommendations in the body of this report.

Introduction and overview
1. The Scrutiny Committee requested an agenda item focused on graffiti prevention 

and removal as part of its annual work plan for 2018-19. At its meeting on 5 
February 2019, the Scrutiny Committee considered a report concerning the use of 
Street Art in the City, and a proposal to change the Council’s approach to removing 
graffiti from private property. The Committee would like to thank Councillor Hayes, 
Board Member for Safer, Greener Oxford, and Councillor Chapman, Board Member 
for Customer Focussed Services, for attending the meeting. Thanks also go to 
Allison Cassidy, Anti-Social Behaviour Case Manager, and Bruce Thompson, City 
Centre and Streetscene Services Manager, for their support at the meeting.

Summary and recommendations

2. The Committee was pleased to note that despite significant increases in the number 
of instances of graffiti recorded between 2015 and 2017, the Council had equally 

63

Agenda Item 11



increased its rates of removal to match this challenge. This should be seen as a 
success for the Council, and councillors commented specifically on the good work 
and responsiveness of Oxford Direct Services (ODS) and the Anti-social Behaviour 
Investigation Team (ASBIT). The Committee also shared the Board Member for 
Safer, Greener Oxford’s commendation of the work of Allison Cassidy, who had 
developed strong links with local artists to the benefit of the City. 

3. The Committee heard from the Board Member for Customer Focused Services that 
ODS, a wholly owned company of the Council, would now be seeking to remove 
graffiti from private property in public spaces within 48 hours for free (with the 
exception of larger commercial ventures, which ODS would continue to ask to pay), 
where it was safe to do so and consent was gained. It was also positive to see that 
high response standards would be set for the removal of offensive graffiti. 

4. In light of previous instances of issuing Community Protection Notices and fines to 
private property owners who did not remove graffiti, this was seen as an 
unfavourable option as it served to penalise people who had already been the victim 
of a crime. It was positive and understandable that the issuing of CPNs had 
therefore been limited to being used only once under the previous policy. 

5. On that basis, broad support was given for the new approach, particularly in light of 
the evidence base which suggests quick removal deters further instances of graffiti. 
The Committee also welcomed the approach of seeking blanket waivers from utility 
companies to permit the Council to remove graffiti from their property, given that 
utility companies had not always been particularly reactive to single instances of 
graffiti.  

6. The Committee highlighted and discussed the possible correlation between the 
declining number of youth services in the City and the rising instances of graffiti. It 
was explicitly noted however that graffiti is perpetrated by people of all ages, and is 
not isolated only to younger generations. This is part of a wider challenge that the 
City faces in ensuring there are appropriate community activities and support 
services available, which have declined in recent years due to County Council and 
Central Government funding cuts.

7. It was noted that the extent of the new approach may mean that more time and 
resources will be used to tackle graffiti, but time would equally be saved by avoiding 
the previous burdensome process of convincing private property owners to pay for 
the work themselves. The demand this new approach places on the resources of the 
Council and ODS should therefore be monitored. The Committee noted that the 
Council will continue to charge larger commercial ventures for the removal of graffiti 
however, but the way in which larger ventures would be defined could be clearer.

Recommendation 1: That the Council considers how best to define ‘larger 
commercial ventures’ when requiring such private land owners to pay for the 
removal of graffiti, to ensure the policy is applied consistently. 

8. The Committee recognised that there is a distinction between street art and graffiti. 
The former can represent an expression of the values and views of a community and 
have a very positive effect when developed in consultation with residents. The latter 
can be an unacceptable blight on the public realm. 

64



9. The appreciative enquiry organised by the ASBIT team in 2015, which involved over 
60 people, resulted in free wall space being provided for local artists to use in South 
Park. The Committee was pleased to note that since then, instances of graffiti had 
reduced significantly. Equally, at the Murco Site in 2017, a well sized consultation 
identified broad public support for free wall space in the area. The Committee agreed 
that street art was most valuable where it involved consultation with a wide range of 
stakeholders, and was well placed (for example, not on historic structures). 

Recommendation 2: That the Council engages more widely with residents and 
other stakeholders (for example through an appreciative enquiry) concerning 
the use of Street Art in deterring graffiti in and around Meadow Lane. 

10. Councillors highlighted that commercial security shutters were often targeted 
overnight for graffiti, and this was unsightly once the shops were closed. The 
Committee wished for the Council to look at more creative ways of deterring graffiti 
on these shutters, possibly through the use of street art. This could be particularly 
effective where the properties are owned by the Council, and consent is gained from 
the lessee. 

Recommendation 3: That the City Executive Board considers how the Council 
can be creative in deterring graffiti on the commercial security shutters of 
retail units owned by the Council, to improve the public realm. This could be 
achieved through the use of street art projects, for example. 

11. The Committee notes that Oxford Direct Services delivers a significant amount of 
services on the Council’s behalf. Going forward, there could be more clarity in the 
decision making process about which matters are reserved to decision making within 
the Council, and which matters remain operational, and reserved to ODS. The 
Committee expects that all matters reserved to the Council will continue to be open 
to pre-decision scrutiny in the normal way. 

Recommendation 4: That the Council ensures that decision making processes 
relating to the delivery of services through Council-owned companies remain 
open to pre-decision scrutiny, where those matters are reserved for decision 
making within the Council.  

Report author Stefan Robinson

Job title Scrutiny Officer
Service area or department Law and Governance
Telephone 01865 252191 
e-mail srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

65



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Draft City Executive Board response to recommendations of the Scrutiny Committee made on 5 February 
2019 concerning the Rent Guarantee Scheme 

Draft response provided by the Board Member for Leisure and Housing

Recommendation Agree? Comment
Recommendation 1: That the City Executive Board: 

a) Notes that the Rent Guarantee Scheme applies to 
families only; not single people or couples, who are most 
risk at risk of rough sleeping. 

b) Considers how the Council might extend the Scheme 
so that it applies to at-risk single people and couples, and 
that this expansion is integrated in with the Lord Mayor’s 
Deposit Guarantee Scheme, which performs a similar 
function but applies to single people and couples.

Partially The Lord Mayor’s Deposit Scheme provides help with a 
deposit and rent in advance for people who find their own 
private rented sector property. Anyone is able to apply for 
this scheme.

The Home Choice and Rent Guarantee Schemes are 
quite different. These are schemes which enable the 
Council to fulfil its statutory duty towards households that 
it must accommodate. Prior to the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (2017), this was entirely 
made up of families. The Council recognises that there is 
a need to provide a similar service for individuals, and 
has recently submitted a bid into the government to run a 
pilot scheme to support this group into the private rented 
sector.

67

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Date of agreed draft response: 8 February 2019

Appendix 1 – Draft City Executive Board response to recommendations of the Budget Review Group made on 5 February 2019. 

Draft response provided by the Board Member for Finance and Asset Management 

Recommendation Agree? Comment
Recommendation 1: That Council Tax is increased by 2.99% in 2019/20. Y Agree

Recommendation 2a:  That the Council maintains its current level of 
funding to support international twinning links.

Recommendation 2b: That the Council drafts a vision document for its 
twinning work to guide future funding decisions, to be presented to the 
City Executive Board for agreement in 2019/20.

N The budget proposes increased core funding for town 
twinning.  It does not quite reach the level of funding of this 
budget year, but that is because the Council included one-
off funding to support the establishment of its link with 
Wroclaw.  We will monitor whether funding proves 
sufficient to support its activities and make 
recommendations about future years as appropriate.

Recommendation 3a: That the Council makes available appropriate 
resources to support the establishment of a citizen’s assembly, in line 
with the climate change motion passed on 28 January 2019.  

Recommendation 3b: That future budget proposals feature independent 
officer comment on the impact that the Council’s plans may have on the 
environment, and how closely aligned the proposals are to the Council’s 
broader environmental ambitions.

N

Y

The proposal came too late to be included in this year’s 
budget planning.  However, we will talk with partners about 
how to establish this process, and if funding is required will 
attempt to respond positively in year.

The Council will look to include an overview of the impact 
of the Council’s Budget proposals on the Environment in 
future Budget Setting reports. We will look at how this can 
be resourced over the coming months.

Recommendation 4: That the Council carries out a full assessment of the 
impact made by its funding towards the Joint Taskforce to tackle open 
drug dealing and drug taking in the City, before a decision is taken on its 
future funding.

N Indications are that the Drug Task Force is having some 
impact on the level of drug dealing and drug misuse in 
public spaces. It is understood that Thames Valley Police 
will undertake this work for next financial year; this 
represents a "vote of confidence" in this work, but given 
this is now being funded by TVP, it would be for them 
rather than the City Council to assess the full impact.  This 
project has been a welcome illustration of how one-off 
Council support can shape priorities in partnership with 
other agencies.

Recommendation 5: That the Council, through its Housing Company, 
should seek to develop a longer term view of its development plan. This 

Y The Council will be considering its policy position and 
strategic direction of OCHL over the next 3 months

69



Date of agreed draft response: 8 February 2019

should include establishing a broad programme of property and land 
acquisitions to be supported by a standalone funding pot provided by the 
Council for purchases.
Recommendation 6:  That the Council makes strong representations 
within its response to Central Government’s Fairer Funding Consultation 
ending on 21 February 2019 to the effect that:

a) Council Tax Reduction Schemes should not be taken into account 
when assessing a local authority’s available resources and 
calculating its baseline funding level. This is to avoid effective double 
taxation.

b) Income from car parking, fees and charges should not be taken into 
account when assessing a local authority’s available resources and 
calculating its baseline funding level. 

Y I strongly agree with this recommendation. This Council is 
one of a handful of authorities across the country that have 
maintained the Council Tax Reduction Scheme to the 
same requirements that existed when the scheme was first 
introduced in 2013.  The Council sees this scheme as a 
key priority, protecting the more vulnerable in society. To 
‘penalise’ the Council for making this choice seems 
extremely unfair.

In respect of car parking charges and fees and charges, 
the Government themselves do not believe this is a good 
idea, given the volatility of these income streams which 
would place further financial risk and exposure on local 
authorities, so it is uncertain why it is included in the 
consultation.

Recommendation 7: That the Council writes to Central Government, 
making the case for greater local discretion to increase Council tax 
premiums on second homes. The case should also be made for these 
premiums to come into effect earlier (i.e sooner than the current two year 
threshold). This could alternatively feature in a consultation response to 
Central Government if appropriate. 

Y The two year threshold refers to homes that have been 
empty (unoccupied and unfurnished) for two years or more 
where a 50% premium is charged (with a recommendation 
to change to 100% with effect from 1-4-2019) on top of the 
normal council tax. Furnished second homes are charged 
in accordance with the normal council tax for the band of 
property i.e there is no premium or discount. The Council 
will lobby Government to request a change to allow an 
additional premium to be placed on second homes in line 
with the recent changes for empty homes.

Recommendation 8: That the Council seeks to revive its joint working 
with Oxfordshire County Council to carry out an investigative review of 
Council Tax discounts offered to students and single persons. 

Y The County Council have made contributions to single 
person discount review although this has not been 
forthcoming for this year. This Council will continue to 
press for a contribution since the majority of the financial 
benefit accrues to the County Council.

Recommendation 9:  That the Council ensures any revisions to Oxford 
City Housing Limited’s business plans receive appropriate pre-decision  
scrutiny, and that any broader changes to Shareholder governance 

Y Agreed. Changes to the business plan is a reserved matter 
for the shareholder and as such can be subject to scrutiny 
by the companies panel

70



Date of agreed draft response: 8 February 2019

arrangements remain open to Scrutiny. 

Recommendation 10: That the Council seeks opportunities to support 
high profile events in the region, for example, the 2022 Commonwealth 
Games in Birmingham. 

Y We already plan our work so it links with national 
campaigns and we will endeavour to do the same for 2022 
Commonwealth Games. Where possible we do this by 
working with partners and within current budgets.

Recommendation 11: That the Council:

a) Seeks to promote demonstrator or concept modular housing 
developments within the City, as potentially quick construction 
models, whilst seeking to secure external investment in such 
innovative developments.

b) Undertakes a comparative costing of different construction 
approaches across typical small and large development sites, 
which includes information on the lower financial contingencies 
necessary with modular builds, and the financial benefits accruing 
from more rapid construction.  

Y The Council and OCHL will continue to review options for 
procurement and method of construction in order to deliver 
overall value for money. Experience so far with regard to 
off- site construction is showing in order for this to deliver 
speed of delivery and value for money then this would 
need to be done at scale. This is something we are also 
looking to pursue with our Growth Deal partners County 
wide

Recommendation 12: That the Council establishes a target higher than 
80% for capital delivery against the budget in 2019/20, which should 
feature in the Council’s Capital Strategy going forward. 

Y We agree with this recommendation as it aligns with the 
new processes being put in place and the work of the new 
Programme Management Office (PMO) regarding 
prioritisation and implementation of capital spend.  
Potential targets would be 80% in 2019/20 rising to 90% 
from 2020/21.  This is subject to the completion of the 
review work.

Recommendation 13: That the Board Member for Finance and Asset 
Management reviews the four year budget allocation for maintenance 
and repairs (£2m per annum) to ensure it represents the optimal level of 
investment for the Council, in light of the £2.6m backlog of works that will 
remain after year four.  

Y This is a matter that will be reviewed on an annual basis as 
the effects of our planned maintenance programme are 
better understood in comparison to the future investment 
needs of the stock.

Recommendation 14: That the Council keeps under close review the use 
of its Homelessness Reserves, and presents a longer-term plan in 2020 
which is less reliant on reserves for future revenue expenditure for these 
services. Appropriate contingency plans should also be developed in 

Y A number of current activities in this area are currently 
funded from government grants and also funding from the 
County Council, other districts and the Clinical 
Commissioning Group. Whilst there is some certainty in the 

71



Date of agreed draft response: 8 February 2019

light of the uncertainty around long term Central Government funding. short term over the medium term the position is less 
certain. The Council is mindful of the need to ensure the 
sustainability of future plans around homelessness 
expenditure and will continue to keep this area under 
review.  

Recommendation 15: That future budget proposals benchmark Oxford 
City Council’s Staff Pay Deal against other national and local wage 
indicators, to put the Council’s pay bill into the wider context, and assist 
in forecasting future. 

Y The Council is about to enter the second year of the 
existing 3 year pay deal. For future years inflation rates 
forecasts have been used as an indicator of likely pay 
inflation. The Council will look at indicators of local and 
national pay rates when it commences its pay negotiations 
in the ensuing months.  

72


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Work Plan and Forward Plan
	Forward Plan

	7 Update on the Corporate Plan
	1 Vibrant Sustainable Economy 25.2.19
	2 Meeting Housing Needs 25.2.19
	3 Strong and Active Communities 25.2.19
	4 Clean  Green Oxford 25.2.19
	5 Efficient Effective Council 25.2.19

	8 Approach to City Centre Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPO)
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	9 Fusion Lifestyle
	10 Quarter 3 Council Performance Report
	11 Report for approval
	12 Report back on recommendations
	CEB Response  - Budget


